# The Politics of Agricultural Intellectual Property Protection: The Strange Story of Ghana's PVP Legislation

A thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

> Department of Political Science Memorial University of Newfoundland

> > by Joseph Tettey Ossom-Kabu.

St. John's, Newfoundland and Labrador October 2024.

## Acknowledgements.

I wish to express my sincere appreciation to Dr Russell Williams for his interest in my research topic and diligent supervision of this thesis.

I would also like to thank Frederick Nana-Oppong, who encouraged me to write this thesis when I had lost interest and whose computer I borrowed to write every chapter of this thesis.

Also, I give special appreciation to Judith Guy for her constant check on my work progress, which gave me another reason to keep writing.

Finally, I thank all my friends and family for their encouragement and prayers.

#### Abstract.

The Republic of Ghana has come a long way with its attempts to protect plant breeders' rights, as required by the UPOV-91 Convention and the TRIPS Agreement. The Ghanaian government finally passed the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act of 2020 after other attempts in previous years were unsuccessful. The Plant Breeders' Bill of 2013 was the country's first attempt at protecting breeders' rights; however, the bill generated a huge controversy and a series of protests in the country, as many stakeholders were not in favour of its provisions. Consequently, the bill was suspended from parliament for further consultations to be made, and there it remained until the Plant Variety Protection Bill was introduced and passed in 2020 after a change in government in 2016. Interestingly, the opposers of the 2013 bill, again, have made several attempts to stop the passage of the new legislation, claiming that the new legislation is merely a reproduction and renaming of the 2013 bill and does not address their previous concerns. One of the main concerns of the opposition is that the legislation has very rigid requirements which do not serve the interests of Ghanaian farmers and the agricultural industry.

After a thorough analysis of the PVP Act of 2020, the TRIPS Agreement, the UPOV-91 Convention, and the arguments advanced by both factions, this paper strongly argues that the inflexible requirements of the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention—the source of the PVP legislation—is the main cause of this conflict.

**Keywords**: Intellectual property rights, plant breeders' rights, Ghana, Plant Variety Protection Act, Plant Breeders' Bill, UPOV-91, TRIPS, WTO, Food Sovereignty Ghana

## List of Abbreviations.

FSG	Food Sovereignty Ghana
GATT	General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade
GDP	Gross Domestic Product
GMO	Genetically Modified Organism
IP	Intellectual Property
IPR	Intellectual Property Rights
PBB	Plant Breeders' Bill
PVP	Plant Variety Protection
TRIPS	Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights
UPOV	International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organization
WTO	World Trade Organization

## Contents

1.0. INTRODUCTION.	10
1.1. THE PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT, 2020	12
1.2. THE CONTROVERSY SURROUNDING PLANT BREEDER PROTECTION	
1.3. TRIPS AND THE WTO	
1.4. THE POLITICS OF TRIPS.	17
1.4.1. Bilateral Trade Agreements and TRIPS Plus Treaties.	
1.5. UNIQUE ASPECTS OF GHANA'S CASE	
1.5.1. The Patent Act of 2003.	22
1.5.2. Public Health Act 851 of 2012	
1.5.3. Protection against Unfair Competition (PUC) Act 589 of 2000	
1.5.4. Trademarks Act 664 of 2000	
1.6. CONCLUSION AND LAYOUT	
2.0. LITERATURE REVIEW.	
2.1. PERSPECTIVES ON IPRs AND TRIPS.	
2.1.1. Orthodox Perspectives.	
2.1.2. Critical Perspectives	
2.2. POLICY MAKING AND SOVEREIGNTY.	
2.2.1. Policy Takers and Policy Makers	
2.2.2. Discursive Exercise of Power.	

2.3. COMPLIANCE WITH WTO REQUIREMENTS ON TRIPS	35
2.3.1. Economic Development and IP Protection Levels.	35
2.3.2. State Capacity and IP Protection Levels.	36
2.3.3. Policymaking Structure and IP Protection Levels.	36
2.4. CONCLUSION	38
3.0. SETTING THE CONTEXT OF THE PVP ACT – THE EVOLVING TRADE LAW O	ЭF
AGRICULTURE	40
3.1. THE TRIPS AGREEMENT.	40
3.2. TRIPS AGREEMENT AND ITS INHERENT RIGIDITY	42
3.2.1. Article 27	44
3.2.1.1. Article 27(1)	44
3.2.1.2. Article 27(3)	47
3.3. UPOV-91 CONVENTION.	49
3.4. UPOV-91 AND ITS INHERENT RIGIDITY	50
3.4.1. Article 5	51
3.5. SIMILARITIES BETWEEN TRIPS AGREEMENT AND UPOV-91 CONVENTION	55
3.5.1. Minimum Standards	56
3.5.2. Equal treatment.	56
3.5.3. Other Similarities	57
3.5.3.1. Duration of Protection	57

3.5.3.2. Enforcement.	
3.5.3.3. Exceptions and Limitations	
3.6. GHANA'S PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT.	59
3.7. GHANA'S PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION (PVP) ACT AND ITS INHER	RENT RIGIDITY.
3.7.1. Minimum Requirements for Patentability	61
3.7.2. "Early Birds" Control the Patent Scene	
3.8. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION.	
4.0. THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF GHANAIAN AGRICULTURE	
4.1. THE NATURE OF AGRICULTURE IN GHANA	
4.2. HISTORY OF SMALLHOLDER FARMING IN GHANA	66
4.3. POLICIES AND PROGRAMMES INTRODUCED BY SUCCESSIVE C	<b>JOVERNMENTS</b>
TO FACILITATE EXPANSION TO LARGE-SCALE FARMING.	
4.3.1. 1951 – 1966: Nkrumah's Failed Attempt at Commercial Farming	68
4.3.2. 1966 – 1972: NLC and Agricultural Privatisation.	69
4.3.3. 1972 – 1980s: Acheampong's Idea of Fusion	
4.3.4. 1980s – 1990s	
4.3.5. 1990s – 2001	71
4.3.6. 2001 – 2024	
4.4. AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION IN GHANA	

4.4.1. Agricultural Products.	. 72
4.4.2. Ghana's Heavy Reliance On Food Importation.	. 73
4.4.2.1. Poor Irrigation Fuelling Heavy Importation.	. 73
4.5. CONCLUSION	. 74
5.0. IMPLEMENTING THE TRIPS REGIME IN GHANA – PLANT BREEDERS' RIGHTS.	. 76
5.1. THE PLANT BREEDERS' BILL IN GHANA'S PARLIAMENT, 2013	. 77
5.2. THE PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT AND ITS PASSAGE	. 79
5.3. WHY THE RUSH?	. 81
5.3.1. Compliance With TRIPS Agreement.	. 82
5.3.2. Protection of Breeders' Rights and Promoting Breeding Activities	. 82
5.3.3. Improve the Seed Industry.	. 83
5.3.4. Benefits to Farmers.	. 83
5.4. ARGUMENTS RAISED AGAINST THE PROVISIONS OF THE PVP ACT.	. 84
5.4.1. Unfavourable Patent Criteria and Bio-piracy Issues	. 84
5.4.2. Foreign Competition and the "Early Bird" Situation.	. 85
5.4.3. Extinction of Indigenous Crop Varieties.	. 86
5.4.4. Ambush On Ghanaian Sovereignty	. 87
5.4.5. UPOV-91 is Not the Only Effective Sui Generis System	. 88
5.4.6. Conflict With Other International Treaties.	. 89
5.5. CONCLUSION.	. 89

6.0. CONCLUSIONS	
6.2. RECOMMENDATIONS.	
References	

APPENDIX I: UPOV-91 AGREEMENT, 1991 APPENDIX II: PLANT BREEDERS' BILL, 2013 APPENDIX III: PLANT VARIETY ACT, 2020

#### 1.0. INTRODUCTION.

During the early 2000s, there was a growing emphasis on enhancing Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) in plant breeding within developing nations, such as Ghana. The agreement of the Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS), established by the World Trade Organization (WTO) in 1994, advanced this agenda (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). Requiring compliance from the contracting parties (member states), this agreement, in theory, forces them to provide a specified level of protection for patented plant varieties within their national legislative frameworks (ibid.). WTO members were thus required to protect the intellectual property of any firms that sought patent protection under these domestic regimes – the days of freely copying agricultural technology claimed to have been developed by others were to come to an end.

In Ghana, successive governments have made efforts to incorporate Intellectual Property protection mechanisms into its domestic legal framework—for instance, the passage of the Biosafety Law in 2011 (Amanor, 2015; Rock & Schurman, 2020; Rodriguez & Lee, 2015), the Patent Act of 2003, the Public Health Act 851 of 2012, and the Trademarks Act 664 of 2000, just to mention a few—which will be covered extensively from section 1.5.1 to 1.5.4. As a requirement of Ghana's desire to join the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV-91), it also had to introduce a Plant Variety Protection (PVP) system into its national legislation to protect the rights and inventions of plant breeders (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). Consequently, the Ghanaian government managed to pass the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act of 2020 after seven years of battling strong opposition from several groups in the country. Indeed, the struggle to implement a PVP system, a long-running parliamentary standoff and the level of political controversy surrounding it all highlight the extent to which the global intellectual property protection regime is imposed on states in the global south.

Ghana's attempt to introduce a PVP system started in 2013 with the introduction of the Plant Breeders' Bill (PBB). This generated considerable domestic political controversy – obscure patent protection regimes rarely attract such scrutiny. The legislation attracted serious criticism and protests from civil society groups, pressure groups, and the general public. The pressure and momentum of opposition to the legislation became overwhelming, ultimately compelling the Speaker of Ghana's fourth Parliament, Rt. Hon. Edward Doe Adjaho to withdraw the Bill, which had advanced to the consideration stage of legislative enactment (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020; Oguamanam, 2015). The speaker referred the Bill to a parliamentary select committee for further deliberations with the various stakeholders to address the concerns raised by civil society groups.<sup>1</sup> However, for seven years, the legislation languished. Between 2013 and 2020, there were few meetings between stakeholders and the committee in charge of the Bill, but discussions seemed to have halted, especially after a change of government in 2016.

In 2020, discussions around the Bill and its possible reintroduction into parliament resurfaced as the government organized some "sensitization workshops" on the importance of the PBB (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020). Organized by government representatives to "demystify" the controversies around the Bill, the sensitization workshops were designed to increase support from farmers for its reintroduction into parliament. According to a report by Food Sovereignty Ghana (FSG),<sup>2</sup> which is the main opposition to the passage of the Bill, the workshops were done quietly, with farmers in lecture-style settings (no room was allowed for questions and inputs from participants), and opposition groups were excluded. Following this process, the Bill was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See column written by Food Sovereignty Ghana on Ghanaweb:

https://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/features/Investigate-Bagbin-Over-Plant-Breeders-Bill-335602 <sup>2</sup> See report at https://www.modernghana.com/news/1019682/the-obnoxious-plant-breeders-bill-is-back-to-parl.html#google\_vignette

reintroduced to parliament; renamed as the "Plant Variety Protection Bill" (Parliament of Ghana, 2020). The Bill was then hurriedly passed by parliament, considering that the Bill was not new to parliament and with the assurance that the necessary consultations had been done (ibid.)

Interestingly, the opponents of the PBB, again raised opposition against the new PVP legislation, explaining that it was only a "change in title" without any changes made to the content of the document (PFAG, 2020). This implies that the reasons for their criticisms and protest against the old Plant Breeders' Bill still stood, and the fight against this PVP still lingers on, as the opponents continue to campaign against the legislation and have sought to pursue the case in court. Nonetheless, twenty-six years after the creation of the TRIPS agreement, at considerable cost to the government, Ghana has a system of agricultural patent protection.

Much can be learned from this story. Ghana is not the only developing country to struggle with bringing domestic legal regimes into compliance with the WTO, but it is a uniquely challenging case. For a variety of reasons relating to the historical political economy of Ghanian agriculture, the move to a global system of intellectual property protection was always going to be politically difficult, raising serious concerns for farmers. The creation of global trade regimes is a top-down process imposing economic and political costs on states like Ghana.

## 1.1. THE PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT, 2020.

The Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act of 2020 functions as an intellectual property rights instrument designed to institute a legal framework safeguarding the rights of "plant breeders" – those that create new, patentable agricultural products (generally, genetically-modified plant varieties sold in the form of seeds). Its primary objective is to establish a system that not only protects plant breeders but also establishes mechanisms for rewarding their efforts. The

overarching goal is to foster and encourage investment in plant breeding activities, contributing to agricultural development and ensuring food security within the country (WIPO, 2020). Streamlining the introduction of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and associated research endeavours in Ghana, proponents expect that this system will ultimately provide farmers with access to a superior range of seeds at cost-effective prices, thereby enhancing agricultural productivity (WIPO, 2020).

#### **1.2. THE CONTROVERSY SURROUNDING PLANT BREEDER**

#### **PROTECTION.**

From the introduction of the PBB to the current PVP Act of 2020, Food Sovereignty Ghana (FSG), a non-governmental organization, the Convention People's Party (CPP), and the Peasant Farmers' Association of Ghana, have been the most vocal opposition (Rodriguez & Lee, 2016). These groups have had the main objective of compelling the government to adopt more flexible legislation which would protect the interests of smallholder farmers and plant breeders and improve the country's agricultural sector in other ways. In 2013, they called for the substitution of the Plant Breeders' Bill with a more comprehensive document designed to unequivocally safeguard the rights of all farmers to "preserve, exchange, and cultivate seeds" (Rock, 2018). The opposition presented concerns about farmers' rights, sovereignty, bio-piracy, indigenous seeds and security access, and historical precedents where similar practices to those proposed in the legislation had worked out badly for Ghana.

Simply, the opposition argued that the legislation (in its various incarnations) largely served the interests of private and foreign firms rather than the needs of local farmers and the Ghanaian agricultural industry. This is because "patenting conditionalities" (Section 3 in the legislation) limit

13

patent protection to only those innovations that are "new, distinct, uniform, and stable". These rules do not favour the style of agricultural innovation in Ghana, thus rendering most existing crop varieties non-patentable. As will be discussed further in Chapter 3, the non-patentability of existing crop varieties could result in biopiracy, extinction of indigenous non-commercial crop varieties, and a potential overtake of the agricultural system by foreign firms.

On the other hand, the proponents of the legislation—including the government and foreign seed companies—argued that it would benefit breeders' intellectual property in the biotechnology industry. They also argue that farmers would then have access to higher quality seeds at more affordable prices because breeders would have a greater incentive to innovate in Ghanian agriculture. These arguments for and against the PVP Act will be covered in more detail in Chapter 5.

#### 1.3. TRIPS AND THE WTO.

The history of TRIPS and the WTO can be well traced to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) of the 1940s (Shukla, 2000). GATT was supposed to be a temporary round of meetings that would eventually lead to the creation of the International Trade Organization (ITO) by the end of the Havana Charter; however, the ITO never materialized (ibid.). The idea of TRIPS first surfaced in 1986 during the Uruguay Round of the GATT. (Shukla, 2000). This idea was fueled by a coalition that consisted of American, European, and Japanese drug and pharmaceutical industries (Shukla, 2000). Their main objective was to compel governments worldwide to adopt high standards of intellectual property protection and facilitate its enforcement under a new World Trade Organization that would supersede the GATT. Neither the existing GATT system nor the World Intellectual Property Organization (WIPO) had "teeth" that gave these industries the legal

protections that they wanted (Shukla, 2000). At the time, copying intellectual property patented in other jurisdictions was relatively common, and these industries argued that they were being robbed of their technological and copyrighted innovations, especially in the agricultural and pharmaceutical sectors (Mukherjee, 2023). India, Brazil, South Korea, and Argentina were the main targets at the time (Shukla, 2000; Mukherjee, 2023). Cottier (2015) explained that this push to introduce TRIPS to GATT was further necessitated by the geopolitical changes which took place after 1989, especially after the collapse of the Berlin Wall and the demise of the Soviet Union. According to him, this forced countries to resort to market economy liberalization strategies to attract foreign direct investment (ibid.). The shift towards the embrace of globalization meant that states seeking investment were now under more pressure to give multinational corporations the legal and political protections that they wanted.

Although a few countries were the main targets, most developing countries were equally unhappy about the intellectual property agenda and joined forces to oppose it; it was widely seen as something that served the interests of only the world's wealthiest firms and states. Developing countries such as India, Brazil, Argentina, Cuba, Egypt, Nicaragua, Nigeria, Peru, Tanzania, and Yugoslavia formed a coalition to oppose the agenda at the GATT, arguing that it was a challenge to their economic sovereignty and an affront to the welfare of their people and their development (Shukla, 2000; Mukherjee, 2023). While initially, the likelihood of some sort of binding TRIPS system seemed unlikely during the Uruguay Round, by 1988, it was solidly on the agenda (Shukla, 2000).

The US played a very instrumental role in this process. Because of how keen they were on the issue of TRIPS, the US was the "home base" of many of the key multinationals producing patentable intellectual property; the US applied its special 301 policy to force those countries that

opposed TRIPS to succumb to its pressure (Watal, 2011; Mukherjee, 2023). The US entered into bilateral trade agreements with countries such as Brazil, India, and South Korea for example, who were the main forces opposing the motion to incorporate TRIPS into GATT (Shukla, 2000), getting them to change their intellectual property regimes in ways that suited US interests (Mukherjee, 2023). The message was clear – that states should accept a global TRIPS system, or they would get one managed by the US.

Also, by this time, as Otten (2015) puts it, developing countries began to see the "potential rewards" of TRIPS in areas such as agriculture and textiles. Consequently, some of them—particularly the export-oriented—began to shift towards support for the TRIPS agenda. The US seized the advantage of the weakened TRIPS opposition and moved to include it in the final agreement at the Uruguay Round.

A draft final act was presented by Arthur Dunkel, who was the director-general of the General Agreement on Trade and Tariffs (GATT), in 1991, which contained proposals to create what would eventually be called the World Trade Organization—and also included the TRIPS agreement (GATT Secretariat, 1991). This draft, which became known as the Dunkel Draft Text, was later approved and adopted by the ministers at Marrakesh in 1994 (ibid.).

In contrast to the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), the World Trade Organization (WTO) framework transcends its predecessor by not solely limiting its scope to cross-border transactions involving tangible goods. Presently, the WTO encompasses transactions involving intangible entities, specifically services, making enforcement of TRIPS possible. Additionally, it delineates the criteria governing the admissibility of policies and practices that have the potential to limit the production or trade alternatives available to investors (Shukla, 2000). The WTO requires members to accord equal treatment to all members and promotes transparency and

collaboration among members (WTO, 2001). While this provides developing countries the opportunity to access foreign markets and gain assistance from developed countries through collaborations on developmental projects and investment, it comes with a cost. After the Uruguay Round, developing countries were legally obliged to reconfigure their domestic economic policies in ways that were more consistent with the global neo-liberalism promoted by multinational corporations and the governments of states in the North. The TRIPS Agreement was a key site of this changing relationship.

TRIPS establishes minimal national standards for the protection accorded to creators of intellectual property across industries. It encompasses copyright and related rights, trademarks and geographical indications, industrial designs, patents and plant variety protection (or PVP), layout designs of integrated circuits, protection of undisclosed information and control of anticompetitive practices in contractual licenses (Sahai, 2000). In practice, corporations, or "creators" of new intellectual property (it is always corporations) in the TRIPS system have to seek patent protection in each member state individually, or at least in those states where there is the potential for their intellectual property to be meaningfully copied and pursued economically.

In turn, to ensure the availability of the system of protection, developing countries were given a period of 10 years to incorporate TRIPS into their national legislation, while all other countries were required to do the same after a year (Mukherjee, 2023).

#### 1.4. THE POLITICS OF TRIPS.

Following the passage of the TRIPS Agreement, the international scene became very active, with heavy and commercial intellectual property (IP) producing states trying to protect their interests. Highly developed states tried to protect their interests in IP by getting less developed countries to follow the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement. They sometimes employed controversial and unconventional methods to achieve this purpose. Sometimes, less developed countries were compelled to do things outside the remit of the TRIPS provisions through bilateral trade agreements and "TRIPS Plus" Treaties. This section will shed more light on Bilateral Trade Agreements and the TRIPS Plus Treaties. It will also highlight how the US and the European Union used them to their advantage.

#### 1.4.1. Bilateral Trade Agreements and TRIPS Plus Treaties.

Brazil and India were historically among the developing countries that opposed the introduction of the TRIPS agreement in the Uruguay Round of GATT and have, unsurprisingly, been the main targets of the TRIPS-plus treaties. Brazil is known to have one of the best professional foreign ministries among developing countries, which enables them to deal with the pressure from international bodies (Serrano & Burri, 2019). India also has a very robust generic drug industry, making it very costly for the government to bow to international pressure on IP protection, particularly in relation to the pharmaceutical industry (Serrano & Burri, 2019). Indeed, India was often a major exporter of "generic" copycat pharmaceuticals to other developing countries that lacked the industry to produce low-cost drugs themselves. Amongst the developing countries, these two appear to possess some "clout" and have been able to withstand pressures from international bodies. However, this narrative is a bit shaky because they are likely to follow the example of China, Japan, and South Korea, which switched from opposing the system to becoming proponents (Serrano & Burri, 2019).

It is not difficult to see what has happened to other developing countries that do not have the ability to face international pressure, particularly when dealing with the US. Access to the US market is crucial in the WTO system. The US has used its power, which comes from other country's desire to export to the US market, to force intellectual property requirements into agreements with individual states. For example, this was done in the case of Jordan in 2000 (Drahos, 2002). Sometimes, the US literally coerces developing countries to alter their laws, disregarding their discretion and right to benefit from the flexibilities provided by the TRIPS system (Article 6 in particular), such as parallel importation.

Pretorius (2002) narrates the story of South Africa, where the US compelled them to alter their Medicines Act before they could access essential medicines at affordable prices. In 1997, there was an outbreak of HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria in South Africa; meanwhile, the cost of medicines was extremely unaffordable. For instance, HIV/AIDS drugs costed a patient about \$12,000 a year (Pretorius, 2002), which was not affordable for the average South African. To address this issue, the South African government adopted the Medicines Act, which enabled the country to import (through "parallel importation") HIV/AIDS drugs from other countries that produced and sold them at very low prices and made them accessible to citizens. The US government was strongly against this Medicines Act and forced the South African government to change section 15(c) of the law, which enabled parallel importation (Pretorius, 2002). It took overwhelming criticism and disapproval from the international community to compel the US government to relent on its decision, which it only did rather reluctantly. To put it bluntly, the US understanding of the TRIPS system was that if people could not afford patent-protected medications, people should die - this was a focusing event for global debate about who was "winning" and who was "losing" as a result of the creation of TRIPS.

Building on pressure from South Africa, developing countries and other international supporters later forced the WTO into the Doha Declaration of 2001, making it lawful to implement measures to improve access to essential medicines while complying with TRIPS (Abbott & Reichman, 2007).

Regardless, through bilateral trade negotiations, the US has forced developing countries to adopt stronger Intellectual Property laws, specifically UPOV-91-compliant PBR laws. For parochial reasons, the US and the developed world have pushed an agenda to make the UPOV-91 the only *sui generis* system, even though its requirements do not favour developing countries (Oguamanam, 2015; Sahai, 2000). The constant pressure from the developed world, despite the presence of other *sui generis* systems such as the African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), the Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), CoFaB (Sahai, 2000) among others—that have more favourable provisions for developing countries means that the implementation of TRIPS often seems to maximise the privileges of the global north and prevent the global south from being successful competitors (Khor, 2002).

The United States has not been alone, as the European Union has also been involved in the use of TRIPS-plus treaties, which exceed the minimum requirements of the TRIPS agreement (Pretorius, 2002; Mercurio, 2006). The European Union has often been a tacit beneficiary of US demands in intellectual property matters. However, in finalizing bilateral intellectual property agreements with developing nations after the initial involvement of US negotiators, the EU has done similar things (Drahos, 2002). Together, the European Union (EU) and the United States (US) seem to have effectively cultivated an atmosphere characterized by fear and intimidation, employing covertly benevolent channels and administering a combination of incentives and punishments (Oguamanam, 2015). A typical example of this can cited of how the United States' success in pushing for the Central America Free Trade Agreement (CAFTA) with Central American nations

in 2005<sup>3</sup> served as a precedence for the European Union's CARIFORUM Economic Partnership Agreement later in 2008. Both agreements employed TRIPS-Plus tactics such as extending patent protection periods, which is way beyond the requirements of the TRIPS Agreement.

The bottom line is that the power granted to Intellectual Property holders, like large agricultural companies or those in the pharmaceutical sector, has been multiplied due to the nature of trading in this highly globalised system. With the advent of TRIPS, patent holders have become aggressive in their dealings with developing countries. For instance, Khor (2002) provides an example where a transnational company holding a patent for Chlorofluorocarbons (CFC) quoted a price higher than the market price and added two conditionalities in which it—the patent holder—would have a majority share in the Indian firm producing the product or compel the firm to reduce its exports. This illustrates how patent holders from developed countries weaponize their Intellectual Properties against the developing countries. This prevents or slows innovation, which engenders unending dependency on innovations and technology from developed countries, as well as the treatment accompanying it.

## 1.5. UNIQUE ASPECTS OF GHANA'S CASE.

Following the introduction of the TRIPS agreement, member states of the WTO are obligated to incorporate the tenets of the TRIPS agreements in their national legislation. Ghana, being a member of GATT since its independence in 1957 and automatically a member of the WTO in 1995

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Public Citizen report at: https://www.citizen.org/article/central-america-free-trade-agreement-cafta/

(De Beukelaer & Fredriksson, 2018), is also required to comply with TRIPS. It is worth noting that developing countries such as Ghana were given a grace period of about ten years to fully incorporate the tenets of the TRIPS agreement into the national legislation (Mukherjee, 2023).

Before the TRIPS agreement, Ghana already had Intellectual Property laws such as the PNDC law 110, which covered maps, architectural models, photographs, diagrams, works of applied arts such as handicrafts and jewellery, sculptures, literary works, programme carrying signals, choreographic works, etc. (Wakhungu, Sikoyo, & Nyukuri, 2006). However, to comply with the TRIPS agreement, the legislature had to enact new laws and expand or update existing laws. Ghana's government initially made serious efforts to do this.

#### 1.5.1. The Patent Act of 2003.

The enactment of the Patent Act of 2003 marked a significant legislative development aimed at replacing its predecessor, the Patent Law of 1992. This was part of the nation's commitment to adhere to the Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) agreement established by the World Trade Organization (WTO).<sup>4</sup> Serving as the primary framework governing patent rights within the jurisdiction, the Patent Act of 2003 aligns with the provisions outlined in the TRIPS agreement. However, it encompasses various mechanisms, including but not limited to parallel importation and compulsory licensing, designed to ensure patent protection flexibilities in Ghana (Kuudogrme, 2018). Notably, the evolution of intellectual property legislation in the jurisdiction traces back to the inception of the Patents Ordinance of 1899 (Manteaw, 2008-2010), modelled after the British legal system. Subsequent iterations, such as the Patents Registration

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ghana's Patent Act of 2003

Ordinance of 1925 (Wakhungu, Sikoyo, & Nyukuri, 2006), and the Patent Registration Decree of 1972 (ibid), paved the way for the eventual establishment of the Patent Law of 1992.<sup>5</sup> The transition to the Patent Act of 2003 represents a progressive refinement of these antecedent legal frameworks.

The current Patent Act of 2003 is supported by the Patent Regulations, a Legislative Instrument that addresses issues around the application, cost, examination of patents, maintenance, and other matters relating to the patent (Kuudogrme, 2018).

#### 1.5.2. Public Health Act 851 of 2012.

This Act was introduced with the aim of integrating certain provisions of the TRIPS agreement, but again, notably embraces flexibilities such as allowing for parallel importation. By incorporating parallel importation, the legislation seeks to streamline the importation process of pharmaceuticals, thereby promoting accessibility and affordability of essential drugs within the country's borders, all while ensuring compliance with the stipulations outlined in the TRIPS agreement (Kuudogrme, 2018).

#### 1.5.3. Protection against Unfair Competition (PUC) Act 589 of 2000.

The introduction of this Act, ostensibly self-explanatory in its purpose, was intended to safeguard pharmaceutical enterprises from undue competition within their sector (Kuudogrme, 2018). Through its provisions, the Act seeks to establish a regulatory framework that ensures a level playing field for pharmaceutical companies, shielding them from practices that may undermine

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ghana Patent Law PNDCL 305A of 1992.

their commercial viability or impede their ability to realise the full potential of their intellectual property assets.

#### 1.5.4. Trademarks Act 664 of 2000.

In adherence to the provisions delineated in the TRIPS agreement, the Trademarks Act is also structured in a way that enables the importation of generic pharmaceuticals from foreign jurisdictions. The Trademarks Act may mandate certain distinctive features such as unique colouring, packaging, or shaping of these products to distinguish these generic drugs from their counterparts already present in the market. This regulatory approach is designed to uphold the integrity of trademark rights while simultaneously fostering the importation and accessibility of generic medications, thereby promoting competition and ensuring compliance with international trade obligations outlined in the TRIPS agreement (Kuudogrme, 2018).

All of these pieces of legislation represent efforts by the government of Ghana to bring domestic law into compliance with WTO TRIPS requirements, but in ways that often seek to maximize the allowable flexibility for Ghana to pursue domestic policy goals, albeit most of them are centred on health and medicines.

However, a broad opposition emerged to the PVP and the WTO's system of agricultural IPO protection – this thesis explores that case. Why did the "wheels fall off" Ghana's process of TRIPS implementation for seven years, and why has the ride been so "bumpy" after its implementation? What is it about the politics of agriculture in Ghana that has made the protection of plant breeders' rights a very thorny situation? And what lessons can be learned for other cases throughout the global south where there is similar opposition?

This thesis argues that the controversy about the Plant Variety Protection legislation in Ghana and the seven-year delay in its passage is a result of the inherent inflexibilities in the TRIPS agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention alike that threatened to clash with the basic political economy of agricultural production in Ghana.

## 1.6. CONCLUSION AND LAYOUT.

In 2013, the Plant Breeders' Bill was introduced into the parliament of Ghana because Ghana wanted to join the International Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV), which requires members to have some level of plant variety protection in domestic law (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). The supporters of the Bill justified joining the UPOV and the passage of the Plant Breeders' Bill, stating that the county would benefit from improved plant variety protection, access to new plant varieties, improved international trade, and capacity building. On the contrary, groups such as the FSG, CPP, and the Farmers' Association of Ghana—who have been the most vocal opposition to the Bill (Rodriguez & Lee, 2016)—disagreed with this justification for a number of reasons. The opposition presented concerns about the Bill's adverse implications for farmers' rights, policy sovereignty, possible bio-piracy, threat to indigenous seeds, and bad historical precedents of similar regulations. The opposition to the Bill gained public attention, even in the form of protests. The passage of the Bill stalled for seven years and was only passed in 2020—rather forcefully, with the views and concerns of stakeholders not considered.

While the Ghanaian Parliament has demonstrated relative efficiency in enacting new legislation and amending existing laws concerning medicine and health in alignment with the TRIPS agreement, the legislative process concerning both the former Plant Breeders' Bill and the current Plant Variety Protection Act faced serious opposition and criticism. This is because both documents have very intricate implications for a vital sector of the nation's economy—agriculture. Agriculture serves as the cornerstone of the Ghanaian economy, employing approximately 45.38% of the population as of 2013 (Statista, 2023). Given its pivotal role, any legislation impacting agriculture resonates directly with the broader economic landscape of the country.

The back and forth on the PVP legislation process raises questions about the extent to which international trade and intellectual property rules accommodate the policy space, development priorities, and socio-economic realities of developing countries. It also highlights the complexity of sustainable development and the trade-offs involved in balancing competing interests and objectives, particularly in a globalized world characterized by diverse and often conflicting priorities. This thesis posits that the division of public opinion over the PVP legislation is a result of the inherent inflexibilities within the TRIPs Agreement and the PBR provisions of the UPOV-91 Convention.

The second chapter of this study entails a review of literature encompassing various perspectives on Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs), the level of State sovereignty and the quality of policy formulation and implementation within the TRIPS framework by member states.

Subsequently, the third chapter will thoroughly examine the TRIPS Agreement and the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) regime established under the UPOV-91 Convention. This analysis will be contextualized within the framework of the Ghanaian Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act, drawing parallels and distinctions between the provisions of both agreements in comparison with the proposed PVP Legislation. The fourth chapter will discuss the nature of agriculture in Ghana and demonstrate how the Plant Variety Protection Act and its inherent rigidities are incompatible with the country's system of agriculture.

The fifth chapter will tell the story of how the Ghanaian government managed to pass the Plant Variety Protection Act after seven years of delay in more detail. It will also lay out the arguments advanced by the promoters and opposers of the PVP legislation.

Finally, the sixth chapter will discuss the main findings of the research and make some recommendations.

#### 2.0. LITERATURE REVIEW.

This chapter reviews the diverse viewpoints on Intellectual Property Rights (IPRs) and their protection. It delves into the scholarly discourse surrounding the multifaceted dimensions of IPRs, encompassing both orthodox perspectives that advocate for IPRs and critical viewpoints that critique IPRs. Furthermore, the chapter explores debates over the extent to which World Trade Organization member states exercise sovereignty in shaping their intellectual property policies and the challenges they encounter in navigating the TRIPS framework. Additionally, the literature review addresses the quality of policy formulation and implementation processes, shedding light on the complexities and nuances inherent in translating international IP norms into domestic legislation and regulatory frameworks. Despite these multiple levels of debate about intellectual property protection, debates, much of the literature suggests that the TRIPS regime largely favours the interests of the few powerful counties in the global system.

#### 2.1. PERSPECTIVES ON IPRs AND TRIPS.

Ghana's Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act emanates from the UPOV-91 Convention, which, in turn, complies with the provisions of the TRIPS agreement. Owing to this, it can be argued that the TRIPS Agreement cannot be absolved from the controversies and debates surrounding the introduction and passage of the PVP Act by the Ghanaian parliament – the struggle is the "grassroots" manifestation of what the TRIPS process imposes at the global level.

Similar to the opposing views and debates in the Ghanaian case, wider debates and perspectives on the TRIPS Agreement and its implementation exist internationally. One area of contention revolves around the economic implications of Intellectual Property Rights (IPR) protection, sparking debates about its benefits or drawbacks within economic theory. There is considerable disagreement over whether intellectual property protection is "good" or not. Additionally, discourse extends to the broader question of whether the TRIPS agreement serves as a catalyst or impediment to economic development within less developed countries – there are a range of opinions. Furthermore, discussions surrounding the efficacy of IPRs delve into whether they yield the intended outcomes envisioned by their architects. Positive perspectives on IPR protection will be categorised as the "orthodox" viewpoints, which espouse conventional understandings of IPRs juxtaposed against more "critical" viewpoints that challenge established paradigms.

#### 2.1.1. Orthodox Perspectives.

This paper explains orthodox or positive perspectives on intellectual property rights as those viewpoints that describe intellectual property rights as beneficial to society. Positive perspectives have come from people such as Cornish (1989), who simply explained IP rights as a legal framework for protecting intellectual property. Other authors, such as Boyle and Jenkins (2014), add that IP rights protect or safeguard intangible assets, such as inventions, literary works, and artistic creations, from unauthorised use or exploitation. Scotchmer (2004) and Towse (2001) are somewhat optimistic and describe IP rights as incentives for individuals and organisations that help foster innovation and creativity. Furthermore, authors such as Vaidhyanathan (2017) and Chisum et al. (2015) explain that IP rights help strike a perfect balance between rights and public interest, ensuring that creators benefit from innovations and that the public also enjoys using such intellectual creations. Hunter (2016) argues that despite the misconception about IP holders benefitting most from IP protection, the opposite is true. He makes the case that over the years, consumers have benefitted more, citing examples of Henry Ford reducing the price of new cars between 1921 and 1925 due to manufacturing breakthroughs (Bhide, 2015), and the benefits

enjoyed by consumers from pharmaceutical products, especially HIV drugs, since the 1990s (see also Philipson & Jena, 2006) and how consumers have benefitted from the internet and search engines such as Google rather than wasting time and money at libraries (Hunter, 2016).

Moreover, proponents of the orthodox perspective argue that intellectual property regimes in practice are able to strike a balance between both innovators and the public interests because aside from the many benefits that consumers gain, these legal protections usually have a limited number of years after which the protection is lifted. For instance, the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention protect plant varieties for 20 years (UPOV, 1991; WTO, 2000), after which the protection is lifted for free usage by anyone who may benefit from that innovation.

These positive views paint a desirable picture of intellectual property rights and laws in general. These perspectives are in line with the views held by the government and the supporters of the Plant Variety Protection Act in Ghana.

#### 2.1.2. Critical Perspectives.

Others hold rather critical perspectives and opinions about IP rights. In this paper, critical perspectives are explained as those viewpoints that critique or challenge orthodox views on intellectual property rights issues. Generally, critical perspectives frame IPR as beneficial to only a few states or entities operating in the international system. In this line of thinking, mention can be made of authors such as Lessig (2004) and Boyle (2008), who described intellectual property rights and laws as means of legalising monopolies. This perspective suggests that IP rights confer, to their holders, exclusive rights over intangible assets, creating legalised monopolies that foil competition and innovation. Positive or Orthodox perspectives on IPRs have argued that IPR laws offer the best antidote to the market failure situation where owners of intellectual property gain

nothing in return for their work; however, the solution leads to a problem of monopoly, which is another form of market failure (Singh, 2002; Adkisson, 2004). Singh adds that the monopoly of ideas is worse than the monopoly of consumer commodities because the former impacts the lives of future generations (ibid.). Additionally, authors such as Shiva (1997) and Vaidhyanathan (2001) see intellectual property rights and laws as tools of cultural appropriation, enabling dominant cultures or entities to exploit and profit from the cultural heritage and knowledge of marginalised communities. For instance, Oguamanam (2015) has raised concerns about how the inflexibilities of some provisions of the UPOV-91 Convention—which mirrors the TRIPS Agreement—have rendered a lot of indigenous crop varieties from developing states as non-patentable, making way for biopiracy and misappropriation of indigenous biotechnology.

Finally, authors such as Sell (2003) and Drahos and Braithwaite (2002) view IP rights as instruments that perpetuate economic imperialism by imposing Western-centric legal frameworks on developing countries, often resulting in the detriment of local economies and traditional knowledge systems. Similarly, there have been perspectives describing IP rights as commodifying ideas and turning creativity and innovation into marketable products, reinforcing a capitalist system of prioritising profit over societal well-being (Klein, 1999). Adding to this, although Adkisson (2004) acknowledged the importance of IPR to innovation and creativity, he lamented that it is gradually being regarded as "the" method to foster innovation to the neglect of other market-oriented means, which could lead to an era of commodification and amplify the ills of capitalism (Perelman, 2003).

Clearly, the critical perspectives are a direct attack on the positive or orthodox line of arguments, and interestingly, they are not too different from the views held by the opponents of the Plant Variety Protection Act, such as the Food Sovereignty Ghana (FSG), the Convention People's Party

31

(CPP), and the Farmers' Association of Ghana. Both positive and negative perspectives provide or add more context to understanding the views advanced by the various factions of the PVP debate in Ghana.

#### 2.2. POLICY MAKING AND SOVEREIGNTY.

Amidst the discussions around the Plant Variety Protection Act in Ghana, there have been concerns about whose interests are actually being met and whether the country is entirely in control of the policy and ready for its implications. This section aims to highlight the extent of sovereignty afforded to developing countries in formulating intellectual property policies, particularly in light of the dominance exerted by leading industrialised economies at the global level. The discussion will first delve into the dichotomy between "Policy Takers" and "Policy Makers," delineating the varying degrees of sovereignty typically afforded to developing countries in their engagement with IP regimes and the formulation of related policies. This sheds light on power dynamics and policy autonomy, highlighting the challenges and opportunities developing nations encounter in navigating the IP landscape. Furthermore, the section will examine the "Discursive Exercise of Power," highlighting how the institutional framework established by the World Trade Organization's Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (WTO-TRIPS) agreement shapes and constrains the policy-making endeavours of developing countries.

#### 2.2.1. Policy Takers and Policy Makers.

Due to how the TRIPS agreement was reached, there has always been great disquiet within developing countries, particularly around intellectual property. The pressures and expectations from developed countries have largely shaped the current international system governing intellectual property (Tsioumanis, Mattas, & Tsioumani, 2003), which feeds the fears of

developing countries. Interestingly, Campi and Nuvolari (2021) explain that the recent strengthening and synchronisation of IPRS systems are a product of policies driven by developed countries through the TRIPS agreement and subsequently through the TRIPS-Plus policy, where the US government sometimes demands more than the minimum requirements of the TRIPS Agreement.

Tsioumanis, Mattas, and Tsioumani (2003) argue that intellectual property and its protection give back to developed countries the power they lost after colonisation because patents only became very important with the rise of political independence in the developing world, the waning of plantation economies, and the growth of plant breeding. In support of this assertion, Fowler (1995) also likens the current nature of the intellectual protection regime to the days of colonialism, with the only difference being a shift from a physical to a legal mode of control. The Commission on Intellectual Property Rights (2002) reported that commercial users have overrun the intellectual property protection system to the extent that policies around the subject are determined by a few actors rather than the general public's interest and the common good. The United States and the European Union have been the main beneficiaries of these policies-forcing their interests on other countries through the use of bilateral trade agreements and TRIPS-Plus, which sometimes demands more than the requirements of TRIPS (Helfer, 2004; Drahos, 2001; Dutfield, 2006; West, 2012). Because of this, scholars such as Dutfield (2019) have described developing countries as "policy takers" rather than policymakers when it comes to Intellectual Property Rights, especially in agriculture.

In agriculture, NGOs and representatives of developing countries in the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO) have attempted to pursue "Farmers' Rights" to equalise the rather unfair nature of intellectual property rights expressed as "breeders' rights" (MASIPAG, 2002). Farmers were displeased that breeders and corporations were protected by breeders' rights, which ensured their security and benefited them financially, whereas farmers and indigenous communities did not have any protection (ibid.). Developed countries heavily criticised this move (Correa, 2000; GRAIN, 2000).

#### 2.2.2. Discursive Exercise of Power.

While much of the focus has been on the power or leading states to promote their interests in IPR through direct pressure, in the course of policy formulation, the WTO has also been accused, mainly by developing countries, of promoting the interests of developed countries through its "discursive" exercise of power (Hopf, 1998). As West (2012) pointed out, the WTO's laws are overly normative and lack the flexibility to solve real concrete problems. Coupled with the lack of a global judicial body, the WTO resorts to reifying normative laws to solve concrete problems, which have usually resulted in the categorization of indigenous knowledge protection frameworks in developing nations as inconsistent with how the regime should work, thereby requiring special provisions, transitional periods, and ongoing oversight (West, 2012). Like some other areas of IPE, western ideas about how liberalization should work are the norm; everything else is either protectionism or some sort of cheating. Consequently, even though developing countries have complained about TRIPS and IP laws-which place more importance on the holders of IP and neglect the communities whose forms of knowledge were embodied freely in the making of such IP-the WTO dismisses this (West, 2012). The WTO's attempt to solve concrete problems with discursive power due to its overly normative laws has significantly influenced the quality and sovereignty of IP policies formulated by developing countries.

### 2.3. COMPLIANCE WITH WTO REQUIREMENTS ON TRIPS.

As explained above, the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) framework outlined in the UPOV-91 Convention directly mirrors the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement. As a result, Ghana's successful enactment and enforcement of the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act effectively equate to its adherence to the TRIPS Agreement. However, before the passage of the new PVP Act in 2020, the notable resistance towards the previous Plant Breeders' Bill within the Ghanaian parliament and among various stakeholders since 2013 signalled a deliberate non-compliance to some aspects of the TRIPS Agreement. This resistance, which still lingers on even after the passage of the new PVP Act, underscores the conflict between domestic policy priorities, international obligations, and socio-economic considerations. Interestingly, theoretical perspectives exist that offer insights into the factors influencing states' ease or difficulty in implementing intellectual property rights laws, providing a broader understanding of Ghana's challenges with the PVP Act and its predecessor, the PBB.

#### 2.3.1. Economic Development and IP Protection Levels.

A number of economists, such as Maskus (2000), hold the view that the level of intellectual property protection has a correlation with the economic levels of countries. He explains that states with low incomes and technology will likely have strong IP protection because their desire for protected products and services will attract strict IP protection conditionalities. He argues that middle-income countries are likely to have a weak or permissive level of IP protection because of the need to beat foreign competition. Countries with high incomes and high levels of technology are likely to have very high levels of IP protection to reward IP holders. Filomeno (2013) partly disagrees with this assertion, citing the case of Argentina, which was doing well economically with

high levels of per capita income but very low levels of IP protection. This is supported by Campi and Nuvolari (2020), whose research confirms that there is no correlation between countries' GDP levels and their levels of IP protection. Instead, IP protection is determined by other economic development metrics such as research and development, market freedom, and openness of the economy (Ginarte & Park, 1997).

#### 2.3.2. State Capacity and IP Protection Levels.

Filomeno (2013) posits that the extent of intellectual property (IP) protection is contingent upon a state's capacity in IP governance. According to his analysis, the level of IP protection is influenced by the interplay between citizen demands and the state's capacity to regulate and enforce IP laws. This may result in varying degrees of IP protection, ranging from high to low, depending on the specific circumstances of each state. Filomeno suggests that states with weaker IP governance and research capacities are often subject to stronger demands for IP protection from more developed states. Consequently, these states may adopt stronger IP protections to align with the preferences of powerful states. Conversely, states with robust IP governance capacities but limited research capabilities may opt for lower levels of IP protection, reflecting a prioritisation of other developmental objectives over stringent IP regulation. Moreover, Filomeno highlights that states with high capacities in both IP governance and research are inclined towards stronger IP protection regimes.

#### 2.3.3. Policymaking Structure and IP Protection Levels.

Another explanation is given by Filomeno (2014) that countries that use a corporatist process of IP decision-making are more likely to have weaker IP protection laws, whereas states that use a pluralist or a "state capture and abstention" pattern are more likely to have stronger IP protection
laws. This is because corporatism allows for the participation of different state agencies, interested societal actors, and fewer representatives from the private sector in the IP decision-making process. Consequently, it results in a permissive level of IP protection because it becomes difficult for private individuals or one party to influence the decision. A typical example of the corporatist nature of decision-making in India enabled the government to withstand international pressure on TRIPS agreement flexibility due to heavy criticisms from stakeholders in the pharmaceutical industry (Serrano & Burri, 2019). In contrast, under pluralism or a state capture and abstention, private individuals, firms, or groups are easily able to influence IP decisions because they have very strong informal connections to the government. Filomeno (2014) adds that this situation is more likely to occur when states have weak capacities in policy-making. This is evident in the case of Paraguay, where the concerns of smallholder soy growers were not considered because the IP decisions were made in ad hoc committees and driven by the interests of private investors (ibid.). It is not advisable for IP policies to be limited to IP offices or specific government agencies because it increases the propensity of state capture and abstention by private IP holders (Deere, 2009; Latif, 2005).

From the theoretical perspectives highlighted above, Ghana's approach and posture exhibit notable parallels with Filomeno's (2014) theory regarding the nexus between a country's policy-making structure and the formulation of IP protection laws. With the suspension of the first Plant Breeders' Bill (PBB), the government at the time employed a corporatist decision-making style, as identified in Filomeno's framework. This is because discussions around the PBB welcomed input and participation from diverse state agencies, interest groups, and the private sector. This is contrary to the state capture or abstention style, which characterized the passage of the new Plant Variety

Protection Act, where the Attorney General and government institutions "forced" the Bill through parliament with no inputs from other stakeholders (PFAG, 2020).

With the change of government in 2016, the style of decision-making on plant breeder's rights protection moved from a more corporatist style in the PBB [2013] case to a state capture or abstention style in the PVP Act [2020], resulting in the speedy passage of the legislation as compared to a seven-year halt of the former. This lends credence to Filomeno's theory that the policy-making structure of a country significantly influences the formulation and adoption of IP protection laws.

# 2.4. CONCLUSION.

This chapter has offered an overview of debates surrounding international intellectual property protection. Orthodox perspectives supporting the idea of IPRs, and their protection have described IP rights as a legal framework for protecting Intellectual property, an incentive for innovation and creativity, and a perfect balance between rights and public interest. Other, rather critical perspectives have described IP rights, and their protection as means of legalising monopolies, tools of cultural appropriation, instruments that perpetuate economic imperialism, and a means of reinforcing a capitalist system by commodifying ideas and turning creativity and innovation into marketable products.

The chapter also discussed the nature of policymaking and how powerful states have been able to manipulate the global system and force their will on less powerful states. The chapter also highlighted the inherent challenges of the WTO's legal framework to IP protection, which involves a discursive exercise of power prioritizing wester ideas about IP over the interests of less developing states.

Finally, the chapter presented a number of theories to help us understand the factors that account for high or low levels of IP protection by states. Ghana's change of posture and successful passage of the PVP Act was in part due to a change in decision-making style from a more corporatist style of policy-making, which integrates the input of various state agencies, interested societal groups, and some representatives of the private sector to a state capture or abstention style where specific government agencies make policy decisions alone.

The bottom line is that the WTO-TRIPS accord is inherently controversial— as a system often imposed on member states against their will. But it is seen as everything from simply a good mechanism to encourage investment and innovation to a kind of new imperialism that will restrict economic development in the south and inflict some real harm on those communities. It is perhaps surprising in this light that so many countries have "gone along" with the project, but power is central to the global trade regime, and developing countries are often forced to live with policies they would not choose on their own.

In this light, the case of the PVP in Ghana is all the more interesting. What is it about the politics of agriculture and the Ghanaian political situation that created space for serious resistance to this global regime?

# 3.0. SETTING THE CONTEXT OF THE PVP ACT – THE EVOLVING TRADE LAW OF AGRICULTURE.

The controversy around the Plant Variety Act and its passage in Ghana's parliament has sparked many discussions about the nature of the UPOV-91 Convention and its provisions. One of the main points raised by the opposition, which this thesis also highlights, is that the back and forth involved in the passage of this PVP Act results from the inflexibilities inherent in the provisions of the UPOV-91 convention and the Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) Agreement (by extension). This is because the PVP emanates from the UPOV-91 Convention, which completely mirrors the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). These systems are identical in terms of their provisions and share the same level of inflexibility regarding applicability, which is an important theme. In theory, Ghana could pursue a more flexible application of TRIPS, but that has not occurred, and it has important implications for the politics of IP protection there. To illustrate this point, this chapter will highlight the rigidity inherent in the three documents as relevant to the Ghanaian story.

# 3.1. THE TRIPS AGREEMENT.

The creation of the Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) agreement as part of the founding of the World Trade Organization was grounded in a new set of ideas about how the nature of trade was evolving. Globalisation and the advent of new technology removed physical boundaries between states, increasing the volume of trade flows and creating new mechanisms for exchanging "goods" and "services" across borders. Conceptually, increased trade also posed new risks for the creators of "intellectual property", such as firms that invested in new technologies. The emerging environment was not just one of the opportunities; it also created risks for owners of production—particularly those potentially threatened by IP piracy—as some transactions could not be documented, products could easily be copied by the other firms and sold globally, and globalization itself expanded the opportunities for predatory firms to evade existing intellectual property protections.

As a result, many suggested that there was a need for the WTO to establish some minimum levels of standard protection for international trade among member states (Yu, 2013), which the TRIPS Agreement provided. The main objectives of the TRIPS Agreement were to protect and enforce intellectual property, promote innovation and dissemination of technology, protect the welfare of innovators and society, and help establish a middle ground between the rights of innovators and the obligations of users of such innovations (WTO, 2000). The Agreement also seeks to serve as a deterrent to the illegal trade of intellectual property through the implementation of border measures and ensures that these measures do not create barriers to legitimate trade (Yu, 2013).

Typical of international agreements, the negotiations leading to the passage of TRIPS have been described by many as controversial and highly contentious (Yu, 2013). The system agreed upon requires that all contracting parties (member states) of the WTO create national systems of intellectual property protection that allow holders of that technology to protect their patents and copyrights in that jurisdiction. Essentially, what the WTO did was to impose a "one-size-fits-all" regime which could potentially undermine the economic sovereignty and welfare of people in developing countries (Shukla, 2000; Mukherjee, 2023), by reducing the ability of those states to make use of new technology without paying for it through the creation of "generic" copycat products, for example. Post WTO, firms would, at least in theory, have the ability to sue producers of products that were making use of their patented or copyrighted intellectual property.

Understandably, this marked a big shift in power between states and the large drug and agricultural multinational corporations.

While a great deal of research already exists detailing the step-by-step progression of the TRIPS negotiations and how and why this change occurred (see Shukla 2000, Cottier 2015, Mukherjee 2023, and Otten 2015), the point is that developing countries found themselves operating in a changed environment after the completion of TRIPS. This section will mainly focus on the provisions of the TRIPS Agreement, primarily Article 27, which has a direct bearing on the Plant Variety Protection Act in Ghana and the challenges that it creates in the Ghanaian context.

# **3.2. TRIPS AGREEMENT AND ITS INHERENT RIGIDITY**

Within the context of agriculture and the trade of biotechnological products, the TRIPS agreement obligates member states to make provisions for the protection of plant varieties in three ways: by patents, by the use of an effective *sui generis* system—a system that provides legal and administrative procedures to protect the private rights of plant breeders<sup>6</sup>—or through a combination of the latter and the former, according to article 27.3b. This implies that Ghana has three options, which include either directly setting up a patenting system to protect the owners of intellectual property, adopting the requirements of effective *sui generis* systems such as that which the UPOV-91 Convention, African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), and CoFaB (Sahai, 2000) each provide, or having both operate at the same time. Also, it prescribes that plant varieties or products to be protected must utterly meet the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Module 7 of Multilateral Trade Negotiations on Agriculture by Repetto and Cavalcanti (2000) at https://www.fao.org/4/x7355e/X7355e07.htm

requirements of novelty, inventiveness, and industrial applicability (WTO, 2000). Furthermore, per the principles of international law, the TRIPS agreement obliges member states to uphold the values of non-discrimination regardless of the source or nationality of patent applicants. These requirements come off as very rigid, at least according to the opponents of Ghana's Plant Variety Protection Act, as it does not consider the nature of biotechnological inventions in Ghana.

Ghana's style of biotechnological innovation can be described as informal, communal, and incremental (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008) because farmers themselves introduce new plant varieties through unconventional or informal means (Manu, 2016; Oguamanam, 2015)—no specific documentation of step-by-step processes—where information on new plant varieties spread very quickly amongst farmers. Other farmers continue the innovative process by building on those new plant varieties to a point where it is very difficult to determine the source of specific crop varieties. As a result, the requirement of TRIPS to fulfil all three conditions of novelty, inventiveness and industrial applicability becomes impossible and renders most of the existing crop varieties non-patentable. This has dire implications for the Ghanaian agricultural industry, which will be discussed in detail in the following sections.

Proponents of the TRIPS Agreement often point out that it contains some levels of flexibility, which are more apparent in some articles in the Agreement. Notably, articles 30 and 31 are cited due to the flexibility they bring in using intellectual property without the authorization of the right holder in certain circumstances (WTO, 2000). Articles 65 and 66 of the Agreement are also cited because of the level of transition periods they offer to developing and least developed countries before the full implementation of TRIPS (Abbott, 2002). Also, and most importantly for the issue of the Plant Variety Protection Act, articles 65 and 27 of the TRIPS Agreement are usually cited together because article 27 implies some level of flexibility on how countries can use or take

advantage of patents to their own interests in certain situations, whiles the article 65 permits developing countries to exclude certain subject matters from patentability for a specific time (Dutfield, 2004). Article 6 of the TRIPS Agreement is also often cited as a flexibility mechanism for developing countries to take advantage of - especially in terms of parallel importation to reduce the cost of imported products like drugs (Frankel & Gervais, 2016). Indeed, the TRIPS Agreement, on the surface, allows member states considerable flexibility in terms of how they have to comply with TRIPS requirements, but how beneficial are these mechanisms to the least developed states in practice, given the complexities of implementation and the unequal power relationships of the trade regime.

Due to the subject matter of this paper, the focus will be directed towards Article 27 of the TRIPS Agreement because it is the main source of the controversies surrounding the Plant Variety Protection Act and its predecessor, the Plant Breeders' Bill.

#### 3.2.1. Article 27.

Article 27 of the TRIPS agreement is quite popular because of the discussions it has engendered amongst stakeholders in the agriculture sector worldwide. This is very important because the controversy surrounding the Plant Variety Protection Act hinges largely on this provision of the Agreement.

#### 3.2.1.1. Article 27(1)

The first paragraph of Article 27 states that:

...patents shall be available for any inventions, whether products or processes, in all fields of technology, provided that they are new, involve an inventive step and are capable of industrial application... and the patents shall be available and patent rights enjoyable without discrimination

as to the place of invention, the field of technology and whether products are imported or locally produced (WTO, 2000; pp. 331).

The first part of this paragraph, which outlines the criteria that inventions must be new, involve an inventive step, and be capable of industrial applicability, is a point for discussion when it comes to the rigidity of this Article. It implies that for any product to be protected by a patent, it must meet all three minimum requirements of newness, inventiveness, and industrial applicability at the same time. The problem is that meeting all three patent requirements does not align with or favour the nature of innovation in the Ghanaian agricultural setting.

Over generations, African farmers have had their own systematic approach to observe and make use of naturally occurring mutations in plant species to enhance crop productivity (Oguamanam, 2015). This process involves informal experimentation and communal sharing of genetic resources embedded within cultural traditions, biodiversity conservation, and ecological sustainability concerns (Oguamanam, 2008). Innovation within the African agricultural setting is a gradual, incremental process that is communal and involves observations, trial-and-error, and informal information sharing among farmers (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008). As a result, there is no way to trace the direct origin or owners of most agricultural innovations—and those innovations benefit the entire community. Even though this method of innovation does not meet the criteria outlined by TRIPS, it does not take away the efficacy of African farmers as custodians of agricultural biodiversity and proponents of sustainable farming methods (Oguamanam, 2006, 2007; Amanor, 2011; Ansong, 2018). This perspective challenges conventional notions of legitimacy and expertise within the agricultural innovation domain, asserting the parity of African agricultural knowledge systems with the kind of plant breeding practices recognized under legal

frameworks such as TRIPS – those basically owned and controlled by multinational agricultural firms.

The rigidity in this particular paragraph, which requires all patentable products to pass the condition of newness, inventiveness, and industrial applicability, not only undermines the role of African farmers in agricultural innovation but also creates avenues for "bio-piracy" of Ghanaian agricultural innovations and technology (Oguamanam, 2015). Bio-piracy refers to the piracy or unlawful use of local or bio-cultural knowledge of vulnerable societies through the exploitation of Intellectual property systems or power by other entities (Arewa, 2006; Mgeboji, 2006). Essentially, the risk is that those same multinational firms favoured by the TRIPS system may be able to build on or repackage existing African intellectual property, taking what was a communal "good" and making it their own private property.

The second part of this Article [Article 27.1] talks about the fact that patents must be enjoyable without discrimination regardless of the origin of the product, and the property owner is also a kind of "rigidity", especially when you situate it in the Ghanaian context. This is because TRIPS comprises several developed countries which may have been signatories of other agriculturally focused treaties, such as the UPOV, even before the introduction of TRIPS, and as such, have had many years of experience in how to navigate the regimes of such treaties (Nayyar, 2002; Sahai, 2000). This implies a large pool of patent holders in other developed TRIPS member states who are just waiting to acquire patents in developing countries such as Ghana. Unlike other developed countries, Ghana is new to patenting, especially in the agricultural sector. Even in 2016, there was little infrastructure to facilitate research and studies into agricultural products or biotechnology (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016; Rock, 2018).

As a result, it is very plausible that with the passage of the Plant Variety Protection Act, big firms and entrepreneurs from foreign countries could and would overrun the patent system in the country, resulting in the "early bird analogy" where almost every patent in the agricultural sector could be owned by foreign nationals and firms (Cleveland & Murray, 1997). Such a situation is undesirable because it will not auger well for the future of the agricultural economy and the protection of indigenous crops in the country. A more flexible approach to this provision, especially for developing countries like Ghana, would have been to allow countries to decide which type or varieties of crops can be patented to foreign nationals or allow such countries to set quotas on the number of patents that may be granted to foreign nationals or corporations within a stipulated time frame. As it stands, TRIPS favoured established patent holders in foreign countries rather than in the interest of the Ghanaian economy.

#### 3.2.1.2. Article 27(3)

Another source of controversy is the third paragraph of this Article [Article 27.3b], which emphasizes that:

"Members may also exclude from patentability plants and animals other than micro-organisms, and essentially biological processes for the production of plants or animals other than non-biological and microbiological processes. However, Members shall provide for the protection of plant varieties either by patents or by an effective sui generis system or by any combination thereof." (WTO, 2000; pp. 331).

The last part of this paragraph [27.3b], which obligates member states of the WTO to protect plant varieties either by patents, an effective *sui generis* system or both, has been another subject of

controversy around how this might impact Ghana. From the preceding paragraphs, it is clear how the process of patenting or acquiring patents for innovations does not benefit Ghanaian farmers and, thus, is unsuitable for the African setting. The second part [27.3b], which talks about providing an effective *sui generis* system, is also problematic for the Ghanaian agricultural industry because it compels Ghana to accept the existing UPOV's PVP, which is the main issue of contention in the context of this chapter.

Llewelyn and Adcock (2006) have noted that there are only three ways to implement article 27.3b, which are:

- Implement a patent act or a *sui generis* system that agrees with the UPOV.
- Eliminate patents but set up a *sui generis* system that agrees with the UPOV.
- Set up patent protection and a non-UPOV sui generis system.

This makes one wonder if the UPOV is the only *sui generis* system around and if the drafters of TRIPS had the UPOV in mind (Saldivar, 2014). For the avoidance of doubts, there are several *sui generis* systems, such as the African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), the Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), CoFaB (Sahai, 2000), and many versions of the UPOV. However, the UPOV-91 is the system preferred by the US and most developed countries in Europe because of its provisions, which do not allow for things like seed sharing amongst farmers (Saldivar, 2014).

Furthermore, poor and developing countries are often forced to accept the UPOV-91—even though it is not in their interests—because it is tied to aid, bilateral Free Trade Agreements (FTAs) and Economic Partnership Agreements (EPAs) (Antons, 2016). As a result, even if aspects of the TRIPS might have implied more flexibility for member states, effectively Ghana, like so many other developing countries, is under pressure to adopt a narrow and rigid approach to intellectual property that favours multinational agricultural firms.

As demonstrated in this section, article 27.1, in combination with 27.3b, effectively offers no flexibility or opportunity for states with a communal style of agriculture, such as Ghana, to benefit from patents. If there is any real flexibility, it is definitely not in the favor of the Ghanaian setting or agricultural system. This is because it compels the state to choose between the unfavourable conditions of patenting and the UPOV-91 *sui generis* system, which is even more rigid than the provisions available in the TRIPS Agreement. This will be discussed in the next section under the UPOV-91 Convention.

# 3.3. UPOV-91 CONVENTION.

Running parallel to the TRIPS, the UPOV-91 Convention is a successor to a number of such agreements between UPOV member countries since its inception in 1961. The current UPOV-91 Convention is a culmination of previous modifications of 1961, 1972, and 1978 versions (UPOV, 2011) to ensure its consistency with developments in the professional breeding spheres of member states (De Jonge, 2014). The stated goals of the UPOV system are to ensure food security and promote innovation in agriculture. The system has sought to achieve these goals by establishing the necessary legal, administrative, and technical framework to facilitate international collaboration in safeguarding plant varieties, assisting countries and institutions in crafting legislation and implementing systems for protecting plant varieties (UPOV, 2011). In the beginning [1961], the UPOV was designed, in effect, to protect the interests of commercial plant breeders in Europe until other non-European states acceded to it later on [1980 onwards] (Dhar & Chaturvedi, 1998).

The UPOV-91 is not the only effective *sui generis* system in the world, but its membership has grown significantly, especially amongst countries like Ghana, even though it does not necessarily benefit developing countries (Dhar & Chaturvedi, 1998). This growth in membership has been associated with the obligations from bilateral trade agreements (Dutfield, 2011) and regional trade agreements such as the African Regional Intellectual Property Organization (ARIPO) and the Southern African Development Cooperation (SADC), which also comply with the provisions of the UPOV-91 Convention (De Jonge, 2014). The pressure to adopt the provisions of the UPOV-1991 Convention alongside regional free trade agreements has become widespread to the extent that the Geneva Academy advised EU Member States to cease promoting UPOV 1991 during trade negotiations. Instead, they are encouraged to support developing countries in utilizing TRIPS to create *sui generis* plant variety protection systems suited to their specific intellectual property environments (Golay & Fulya, 2021).

# 3.4. UPOV-91 AND ITS INHERENT RIGIDITY.

The UPOV-91 Convention prescribes that plant varieties or products to be protected must meet the requirements of newness, distinctiveness, uniformity, and stability (UPOV, 1991). Again, in accordance with the principles of international law, the UPOV-91 Convention obliges member states to uphold the values of non-discrimination regardless of the source or nationality of patent applicants. Just like the TRIPS Agreement, these requirements come off as very rigid, at least according to the opponents of Ghana's Plant Variety Protection Act, because it does not consider the nature of biotechnological inventions in Ghana. Ghana has an informal, communal, and incremental nature of biotechnological innovation (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008) and renders a lot of the existing Ghanaian crop varieties non-patentable.

Similar to the TRIPS Agreement, proponents of the UPOV-91 have argued that it contains some level of flexibility which could accommodate the dynamics of agriculture in different geographical contexts. Mention is usually made of article 3.2(ii), which grants member states the grace period of about 15 years to protect all plant species according to the provisions of the UPOV-91 Convention, which is more than the ten-year grace period provided in the TRIPS Agreement. Also, article 15 is quoted by proponents of the UPOV-91 Convention for enabling farmers to reuse seeds on their own farms for non-commercial purposes or subsistence. The laws or provisions in Article 16 of the UPOV-91 Convention are also often quoted by proponents as "flexibility" because it allows developing countries to employ tactics of parallel importation to benefit the local economies of such countries because parallel importation helps to address the rising cost of similar products in the local market. However, as demonstrated in the case of the TRIPS Agreement in the previous section, these flexibilities do not favour developing countries such as Ghana in terms of their practicality.

## 3.4.1. Article 5.

In the context of the Ghanaian Plant Variety Protection Act, Article 5 of the UPOV-91 Convention provides significant rigidity and has been a source of controversy. This provision states that the breeder's right shall be granted where the variety is new, distinct, uniform, and stable (UPOV, 1991). This provision of the UPOV-91 Convention implies that all these conditions of newness, distinctness, uniformity, and stability have to be fulfilled together for a patentable product to be protected under the UPOV-91 convention. In the Ghanaian context, similar to the TRIPS Agreement [Article 27.1], some parts of this provision are rigid and unfavourable because of how agricultural innovation occurs.

As described in 3.2.1.1, some parts of these criteria do not favour developing countries like Ghana due to the nature of innovation in its agricultural sector (De Jonge, 2014). As Oguamanam (2015) explained, African farmers and stakeholders in the agricultural system have had their own traditional and informal ways of innovation that do not follow the systematic procedures developed countries follow. Rather, it is a gradual or incremental innovative process which involves informal experimentation, trial and error, and communal information sharing of genetic resources embedded within cultural traditions, biodiversity conservation, and ecological sustainability concerns (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008). Generally, these changes and the processes involved are not strictly observed and documented to show the step-by-step transformations because the focus is on communal utility rather than patenting (Manu, 2016; Oguamanam, 2015).

Article 7 of the UPOV-91 Convention explains the requirement of distinctness:

The variety shall be deemed to be distinct if it is clearly distinguishable from any other variety whose existence is a matter of common knowledge at the time of the filing of the application. (UPOV, 1991; pp. 7).

This implies that the new variety must not be completely the same as any other existing crop variety. To show the distinctness of plant variety, the plant must show some difference from other varieties, at least in one clearly distinguishable feature or characteristic (Plant and Soil Science eLibrary, 2020). From this explanation, the criteria of distinctiveness could offer some flexibility for farmers in the Ghanaian agricultural setting from having to comply with IP protection rules, but only if they are able to prove or establish at least one characteristic of plant varieties that distinguishes them from other existing plants.

However, in practice, there are concerns about the manner in which crop varieties can be proven as distinct, which involves either a qualitative method of observable differentiation or a quantitative method which involves the measurement of properties of crop varieties (Plant and Soil Science eLibrary, 2020). Due to the gradual or incremental nature of innovation in the Ghanaian agricultural setting, it may be somewhat difficult to prove the difference between crop varieties because some crop varieties may be very similar in composition (Kim et al. 2012), which may lead to conflicts between farmers and officials at the patenting offices. As advanced by De Jonge (2020), this limits the threshold for inventiveness.

Regardless of any perceived flexibility in the provision of distinctness, whether real or theoretical, the other conditionalities carry significant levels of inflexibility.

Article 6.1 of the UPOV-91 Convention explains the requirement of novelty or newness:

The variety shall be deemed to be new if, at the date of filing of the application for a breeder's right, propagating or harvested material of the variety has not been sold or otherwise disposed of to others, by or with the consent of the breeder, for purposes of exploitation of the variety. (UPOV, 1991; pp. 7)

This provision implies that breeders of crop varieties must be identifiable and must be able to demonstrate the newness of the patentable crop in question. Unfortunately, this might be very difficult to achieve in the Ghanaian situation.

Owing to the nature of innovation explained above, ownership cannot be assigned to one particular individual, and the newness of crop varieties cannot be easily established and dated. This renders most of our existing crop varieties non-admissible or ineligible to be patented under the UPOV-91

53

Convention and its offspring—the Plant Breeders' Bill to be passed. To be clear, the rigidity in this provision of the UPOV-91 Convention stems from the requirement and concept of newness, which is not compatible with the nature of innovation within the African agricultural sector and does not acknowledge the efforts or the roles of farmers in innovation.

Article 8 of the UPOV-91 Convention explains the criteria of uniformity:

The variety shall be deemed to be uniform if, subject to the variation that may be expected from the particular features of its propagation, it is sufficiently uniform in its relevant characteristics (UPOV, 1991; pp. 8).

This implies that the material for propagating the plant variety must be the same in appearance, and if there are any differences or variations in composition, it must be within limits or acceptable standards, which are determined by the patenting office or authority (Plant and Soil Science eLibrary, 2020).

As explained above, the nature of innovation in the Ghanaian agricultural setting is gradual, incremental, and communal (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008). As a result, ownership of varieties is not easily identifiable. Additionally, because the focus of farmers is not necessarily on patenting—as a result of their commonality—there is almost no documentation of the step-by-step procedure for creating new varieties (Manu, 2016; Oguamanam, 2015). This combination of anonymity and lack of documentation makes it cumbersome to fulfil these criteria of uniformity because the specific propagating material may not be easily identifiable in some cases. This marks another rigidity in the UPOV-91 Convention, which does not favour the Ghanaian agricultural

setting. De Jonge (2014) explained that the criteria of uniformity results in the loss of genetic diversity and a rise in genetic vulnerability.

It is imperative to state that in spite of the requirements of the UPOV-91 Convention, the farmers in the Ghanaian setting still engender innovation of new crop or plant varieties just as the farmers and biotech engineers in developed countries and as such, their efforts should not be discounted due to unfavourable parameters set up by the Convention (Oguamanam, 2006, 2007; Amanor, 2011; Ansong, 2018). However, the rigidity of provisions in the UPOV-91 Convention denies African farmers the benefits of their innovations and creates a fertile ground for bio-piracy, which has adverse implications for the country's economy (Oguamanam, 2015).

# 3.5. SIMILARITIES BETWEEN TRIPS AGREEMENT AND UPOV-91 CONVENTION.

This chapter has advanced the point that the back and forth around the passage of Ghana's Plant Variety Protection Act is a result of the inflexibilities inherent in the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention by extension because the latter is a mere mirror or duplication of the former (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). As a result, it creates a situation where two external pressures act on Ghana to do the same thing. To prove this point, this section will highlight the similarities between the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV Convention, with the Ghanaian PVP story in mind.

Within the context of the Plant Variety Protection Act discussion in Ghana, the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention present two main relevant similarities bordering on minimum standards for patent protection and equal treatment in patent acquisition. As a result, this section will focus mainly on these two themes.

#### 3.5.1. Minimum Standards.

Concerning the subject of patenting, Article 27.1 of the TRIPS Agreement provides minimum requirements that ensure that inventions are new, involve inventive steps, and are capable of industrial application (WTO, 2000). In similar and even more expansive terms, Article 5-9 of the UPOV-91 Convention prescribes that in order to get a patent for plant varieties, they must be new, distinct, uniform, and stable (UPOV, 1991). In comparing both provisions, it is clear that the UPOV-91 Convention requires patentable materials to be new, distinct, which, according to the explanation provided by Article 7 of the UPOV-91 quoted in section 3.4, implies having an inventive step (as stated in the TRIPS Agreement), uniform and stable-which enables such plant innovations to have industrial application-which is very similar to the minimum standards of protection outlined in the TRIPS Agreement in terms of technicality and applicability. In fact, the UPOV-91's requirements can be described as a more detailed version of the TRIPS requirements on the minimum standards of protection for patents. This is one of the major reasons why this essay posits that the UPOV-91 Agreement mirrors the TRIPS Agreement, especially concerning the objections raised against the Plant Breeders' Bill (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016). As a reminder, these objections highlight the fact that the minimum requirements of patentable products do not favour the needs and interests of Ghanaian farmers and neglect their roles in agricultural innovation.

# 3.5.2. Equal treatment.

Again, the considerable similarity between both treaties and specific provisions that guarantee "equal treatment" to patent applicants. In the case of the TRIPS Agreement, Articles 1.3 and 27.1 enjoin members of the WTO to not discriminate with regard to the licensing of patents, especially

to applicants with foreign nationalities belonging to other member states. The Agreement requires member states to extend the same treatment to all applicants regardless of the place of invention (a fairly standard statement of the principle of national treatment which is core to the WTO), the field of technology and whether products are imported or locally produced (WTO, 2000). In the same way, Article 4 of the UPOV Convention also obliges members of the UPOV to grant breeders' rights to applicants of foreign nationalities and extend the same treatment to them as their own nationals, so far as they are from UPOV member countries. This similarity of provisions is relevant to the Ghanaian PVP story because there have been concerns about foreign nationals and firms—from states with robust biotechnologies and years of experience (Nayyar, 2002; Sahai, 2000) and UPOV adaptation, acting as "early birds" overrunning and owning a significant percentage of agricultural patents (Cleveland & Murray, 1997) now that the PVP Bill has been passed.

# 3.5.3. Other Similarities.

Apart from the two highlighted areas above, there are other aspects of both treaties which are similar in technicality and applicability. These areas include duration of protection, enforcement, exceptions and limitations of protection.

#### 3.5.3.1. Duration of Protection.

Both treaties contain some similarities when it comes to the duration of protection. Regarding the TRIPS Agreement, Article 33 sets minimum standards for the duration of patent protection, typically 20 years from the filing date. Similarly, Article 19 of the UPOV-91 also specifies the duration of protection for plant varieties for a period of 20 years. In the case of vines and trees, protection is up to 25 years.

#### 3.5.3.2. Enforcement.

Again, both treaties contain some similarities regarding the enforcement of intellectual property laws. For the TRIPS Agreement, Articles 41-61 require member countries to provide effective enforcement procedures and remedies against intellectual property infringement. Similarly, Article 30 of the UPOV-91 mandates member countries to establish effective enforcement mechanisms to prevent unauthorized use of protected plant varieties.

#### 3.5.3.3. Exceptions and Limitations.

Both treaties contain some similarities in the exceptions and limitations of protection granted to intellectual property owners. In the case of the TRIPS Agreement, Articles 30, 31, and 33 allow member countries to establish certain exceptions and limitations to patents and other intellectual property rights for purposes such as public health and access to medicines. On the other hand, Articles 15 and 17 of the UPOV-91 also permit member countries to establish exceptions and limitations to plant breeders' rights for purposes such as research and breeding activities.

This section demonstrates the similarities between the UPOV-91 Convention and the TRIPS Agreement. The UPOV-91 provides more detailed and more expansive requirements compared to the TRIPS Agreement's provisions, especially because it focuses mainly on agriculture, but the key point here is that working together, both construct a very rigid system of intellectual property protection that must be applied in member states – a system that privileges the needs of multinational agribusinesses over how agricultural intellectual property is created in places like Ghana.

# 3.6. GHANA'S PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT.

Ghana is a member of the WTO, and as a result of the 'single undertaking' that concluded the Uruguay Round of GATT negotiations, it is also a member of the TRIPS Agreement by extension. Like many other developing countries, this has meant that Ghana is required to create a system of intellectual property protection consistent with the WTO requirements—even though many developing countries opposed this requirement for exactly the same reasons as we see in the Ghanaian case. As a WTO member, Ghana is required by Article 27.3b of the TRIPS Agreement to either provide patents to its plant varieties, adopt an effective *sui generis* system, or employ a method that combines both (WTO, 2000). This implies that Ghana has three options, which include either directly setting up a patenting system to protect the owners of intellectual property, adopting the requirements of effective *sui generis* systems such as that which the UPOV-91 Convention, African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), and CoFaB (Sahai, 2000) provide, or having both operating at the same time.

Since the Ghanaian government started making efforts to pass a set of laws to protect the rights of plant breeders, it has always been a very cumbersome process. From the introduction of the first Plant Breeders' Bill to the new Plant Variety Protection Act, there has always been strong opposition from various sections of the public due to how rigidly the international regime interprets the nature of intellectual property and who can obtain it. Effectively, the Plant Breeders' Bill and the Plant Variety Act were designed in conformity with the UPOV-91 Convention (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016) and the TRIPS Agreement and, therefore, "import" those agreements' narrow interpretation of IP into Ghanian law.

The Plant Variety Protection Act and its predecessor, the Plant Breeders' Bill, function as an intellectual property rights instrument designed to institute a legal framework safeguarding plant breeders' right. Their primary objective was to establish a system that not only protects plant breeders but also establishes mechanisms for rewarding their efforts. The overarching goal is to foster and encourage plant breeding activities of the kind engaged in by multinational firms, which then, so the argument goes, could contribute to agricultural development and help ensure food security within the country (WIPO, 2020). It was argued that this system would also support the more rapid introduction of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) and associated research endeavours as the patent process would be streamlined. Proponents argued that it would provide farmers access to a superior range of seeds at cost-effective prices, thereby enhancing agricultural productivity. Another goal of the legislation was to encourage investment in plant breeding and improve the seed industry by stimulating competition amongst firms, encouraging price stabilization, and providing employment to the private sector (WIPO, 2020).

# 3.7. GHANA'S PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION (PVP) ACT AND ITS

# INHERENT RIGIDITY.

Ghana's recently passed Plant Variety (PVP) legislation, just like its predecessor, the Plant Breeders' Bill, has been criticized for containing significant "inflexibilities" which will not favour the interests of farmers and the agricultural sector. Similar to the UPOV-91 Convention, which it mirrors, the proponents of the PVP have highlighted the provision on farmers' rights in Clause 20 of the PVP Act, which allows farmers to replant seeds on their own farms for subsistence or for non-commercial purposes (WIPO, 2020) as one of its "flexibilities". Also, as stated in clause 21 of the PVP Act, proponents mention the advantage of exhaustion, which enables parallel substitution and may help the country control the cost of agricultural products in the system. Also similar to that of the UPOV-91, the PVP Act offers owners of patents a protection period of 20 years and an extension of 5 years in the case of trees and vines, as stated in Clause 27 of the PVP Act. I also thought of this as a local "flexibility" in the system because it gives owners of patents ample time to reap the fruits of their hard work and encourages innovation.

However, at its core, the legislation applies the basic TRIPS/UPOV framework, which, as argued above, threatens traditional Ghanaian agricultural practices. Essentially, even if there were more room for a more flexible adaptation to local practices and processes in the international regime, the Ghanaian legislation does not pursue that flexibility.

## 3.7.1. Minimum Requirements for Patentability.

Clause 3 of the Plant Variety Protection Act outlines the conditions or requirements necessary for the protection of plant breeders' rights, which includes the same "novelty, distinctness, uniformity, and stability" described above (WIPO, 2020).

As already established, these minimum requirements inhibit the patentability of existing crop varieties because of the nature of innovation in the Ghanaian context. In Ghana, it is difficult to point out the real originator or origin of plant varieties after a long period of time, not to mention the dating and composition of plant propagators.

Looking at the minimum requirements of the Plant Variety Protection Act for patenting, a lot of plant varieties that farmers have planted from time immemorial till the passage of the Bill may be rendered non-patentable. This overlooks the role and efforts of Ghanaian farmers in innovation in the agricultural sector and also provides fertile grounds for the bio-piracy of these indigenous crop varieties by foreign corporations or private firms (Oguamanam, 2015). Essentially, Ghanaian farmers face a very real prospect of eventually having to pay for seeds, etc., utilizing biotechnology that was once developed for free use in African society – things that were once communal and public are made private property through a one-sided intellectual property protection system. These are very real risks.

# 3.7.2. "Early Birds" Control the Patent Scene.

At the least, the "early bird analogy" is a real problem for the PVP Act. Section 9 ensures that patent rights are extended to applicants not only from or within the country but also from other foreign countries, provided they are members of any treaty Ghana is also a member of (WIPO, 2020). This provision upholds the international values of non-discrimination and national treatment, which is commendable within international politics and diplomacy.

In as much as national treatment and non-discrimination are morally acceptable, the reality is that they do not benefit developing countries such as Ghana when in the early stages of PVP implementation. This is because clause 9 opens Ghana's patenting space to very developed countries which have had years of experience with the UPOV-91 and its intricacies and have a pool of patent holders who had been waiting to be "early birds" for the law to be enacted (Nayyar, 2002; Sahai, 2000). With the limitation created by the minimum provisions and the lack of research capacity and infrastructure (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016; Rock, 2018), the country's patenting records could be overrun by a majority of foreign nationals owning a significant percentage of agricultural patents (Cleveland & Murray, 1997). This possibility is alarming and does not play to the interests of local farmers and the agricultural sector.

The PVP Act is an almost perfect copy of the UPOV-91 Convention and is evident by the similarities of the rigidities inherent in both documents. In some of the provisions, there is literally

a word-to-word duplication of the UPOV-91's provisions in some Sections of the PVP Act passed in 2020.

# 3.8. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION.

The main aim of this chapter has been to drive home the point that the Plant Variety Protection Act, the UPOV-91 Convention, and the TRIPS agreement are all very similar in terms of their conditionalities, and they put Ghana under pressure to adopt a rigid system of intellectual property protection which is not compatible with the nature of agricultural intellectual property protection in the country.

As prescribed in all three documents, the minimum requirements of newness, inventiveness, and industrial applicability render existing crop varieties in Ghana non-patentable due to the gradual or incremental, communal and informal nature of innovation in the country's agricultural sector. This undermines the innovative efforts made by the Ghanaian agricultural community over the years and also makes it easy to promote the bio-piracy of existing crop varieties.

While proponents of the Plant Variety Protection Act argue that implementing this system will have long-term benefits for Ghanian agriculture, the point here is that they stem they have implemented is the one demanded by global multinational corporations – it protects their right to privatize intellectual property in ways that may be particularly disadvantageous to Ghana.

# 4.0. THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF GHANAIAN AGRICULTURE

This chapter provides and overview of the agricultural sector of Ghana since the pre-colonial era and gives more context to the nature of Ghanaian innovation and biotechnology. This chapter outlines the efforts made by successive governments since independence to move away from Ghana's reliance on smallholder farming to larger-scale commercial farming practices. The fact that the country is still heavily reliant on small-scale farming after years of various attempts is telling enough. It underlines the importance of adequate flexibility in any policy or intervention that seeks to change Ghana's small-scale agricultural status quo. This chapter argues that the Plant Variety Protection Act does not offer enough flexibility to incentivize the country's shift from small-scale to commercial farming, which is one of the major implications of passing the Plant Variety Protection Act. Essentially, agricultural development in Ghana runs counter to the system of IP protection demanded by the TRIPS process.

# 4.1. THE NATURE OF AGRICULTURE IN GHANA.

Agriculture is the backbone of the Ghanaian economy and has been the primary determinant of the country's economic fortunes since time immemorial. Out of approximately 239,000 km square, which is the total land size of the Republic of Ghana, agriculture occupies 106,000 km square, about 44 per cent (GIPC, 2022). However, if we are to consider total land only, Agriculture occupies about 55 per cent, which is higher than the 39 per cent of land used for agriculture in the whole of Africa in 2021 (Statista, 2024). Agriculture in Ghana employs a significant proportion of the country's labour force, which is estimated to be 38.3 per cent, with the remainder of 43.5 and 18.2 going to the services and industrial sectors, respectively (GSS, 2019). Over the years, agriculture has contributed significantly to the country's GDP, with 23 per cent in 2012 (FAO, 2015) and 30 per cent in 2017, for instance (Dzanku & Udry, 2017). However, in recent times, agricultural's contribution to the country's GDP has plummeted to about 19 per cent in 2022 (Statista, 2024).

In Ghana, the majority of farming is done by "smallholders" who often do it primarily for subsistence instead of focusing on commercialisation (Martey, Al-Hassan, & Kuwornu, 2012; Ferreira et al., 2022). According to Stumpf (2023), roughly 80 per cent of agricultural products in Ghana are from smallholder farming. Most farms in Ghana-like most parts of the continentcultivate less than 2 hectares of land, which is far below the 5-hectare threshold as defined under the UPOV-91 system as small-scale farming (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016; MOFA, 2022). Per longstanding tradition in the Ghanaian setting, chiefs and family heads are the custodians of community lands, and as such, they allow members of the communities to cultivate the land for the benefit of the entire community (Azumah & Noah, 2023). This long-standing tradition is even reinforced in the country's constitution. According to Article 267 of Ghana's 1992 constitution, the chiefs and family heads are the custodians of such lands, and they have the power to enforce rights and obligations to the land which has been granted (Azumah & Noah, 2023; pp. 25). This structure applies to rural, peri-urban, and urban centres. Usually, no land is possessed by the State except the land that has been obtained through lawful proclamation, statutory procedures, ordinances, or international treaties (Azumah & Noah, 2023).

Due to the subsistence motive of farming and the traditional system of land custody by the chiefs and family heads within Ghanaian society, it is not surprising that most farmers have operated smallholder farms with less than two hectares of land throughout the country's agricultural history. For the most part, farmers still use traditional tools such as hoes and cutlasses for farming, while mechanised systems are not widely adopted (MOFA, 2022). In some parts of Northern Ghana, farmers practice bullock farming to till farmlands (ibid.). Unlike large-scale or commercial farms that mostly engage in monoculture, most farms in Ghana practice mixed farming or intercrop systems, meaning that farmers plant more than one crop on the same farmland simultaneously (MOFA, 2022).

It is important to mention that there have been efforts made to adopt modern agricultural technology and practices such as irrigation, fertiliser application, and use of resistant varieties, just to mention a few; however, smallholder farmers have found it difficult to maintain these approaches due to financial limitations (Darfour & Rosentrater, 2016).

# 4.2. HISTORY OF SMALLHOLDER FARMING IN GHANA.

Smallholder farming in Ghana has a long history that dates back to colonial times in the Gold Coast era (Ghana's name pre-independence) (Yaro, Teye, & Torvikey, 2018). Smallholding actually helped support export-oriented agricultural growth during the colonial period. Initially, with the arrival of the Dutch in the 18<sup>th</sup> century, the plantation system of farming was introduced into the jurisdiction (Yaro, Teye, & Torvikey, 2018), marking the early days of commercial farming in the Gold Coast. For instance, the large-scale production of palm oil increased in 1874, implying the use or adoption of commercial norms and practices in farming, especially in terms of land and labour (Hilson, 2002; Jackson, 1992). To be able to produce enough palm fruits at a commercial level, there was the need to expand the size of farmlands and increase the number of workers on these farms, which was a total departure from the traditional smallholder farming of the Gold Coast.

However, this move to plantation-style agriculture did not last very long, partly because of conflicts between ethnic groups and inter-colonial disputes over territorial expansion and possession (Huddleston & Tonts, 2007). Additionally, the British colonial rulers—who took over from the Dutch—were not in favour of the complete switch to or adoption of the commercial

method of farming because they believed that traditional systems of farming were more economically feasible within the Gold Coast agricultural setting (Huddleston & Tonts, 2007). Commercial farming on the Gold Coast meant that the British colonial rulers would have had to acquire larger hectares of farmlands, which would have attracted strong opposition from peasants and small farmers because of the likelihood of strong competition. As Gyasi (1996) argues, the last thing the British colonial rulers wanted was national instability, which could adversely affect the export-oriented production system in which they operated on the Gold Coast (Seini, 2002). It is important to add that this export-oriented mode of agricultural production helped the farmers because the market was created out of competition amongst European merchants for agricultural produce from the region (Seini, 2002). The activities of such smallholder farmers pushed Ghana to become the leading producer of cocoa in the world from 1911 (ibid.), and it only lost this position to the Ivory Coast in 1978 (WPR, 2024).

# 4.3. POLICIES AND PROGRAMMES INTRODUCED BY SUCCESSIVE GOVERNMENTS TO FACILITATE EXPANSION TO LARGE-SCALE FARMING.

As a developing country, productivity, especially in agriculture and the primary sector in general, is key to economic development, at least according to Rostow's (1960) theory of economic growth. With the aim of increasing productivity and economic growth, successive governments, be it democratic or military regimes, have made several efforts over the years to help smallholder farmers transition into commercial farming through policies and specially targeted programmes. This section will account for the efforts made by successive governments from the country's independence in 1957 to the present.

## 4.3.1. 1951 – 1966: Nkrumah's Failed Attempt at Commercial Farming.

Leading to Ghana's independence from the British colonial rulers, Dr Nkrumah won the general elections in 1951 and became the Prime Minister of a transitioning Ghana-British government until Ghana became a fully independent in 1957. During this transition period, Dr Nkrumah tried to move away from the traditional smallholder system of farming, which fuelled the export-oriented production structure of the British colonial government (Yaro, Teye, & Torvikey, 2018). As Seini (2002) explains, agricultural policies in Ghana during the aftermath of colonial rulers were fueled by two main aims of nationalist governments: rewarding the unemployed youth who were instrumental to the fight for independence with jobs and proving the point that the most prudent way to economic growth and independence was through industrialisation. As a result, an agricultural policy that created "jobs for the people" became necessary for the government (ibid.). Consequently, Nkrumah introduced the first Five-Year Development Plan—from 1951 to 1956 which supported the development of large-scale state farms, which were under the control of the state and employed mechanised methods of agricultural production (Songsore, 2003). After the first, the government introduced a second Five-Year Development Plan from 1959 to 1964 (Seini, 2002). The Nkrumah government also established the Agricultural Development Bank (ADB), which aimed to provide low-interest loans to farmers to enable them to expand and increase their cultivation. This government also compelled commercial banks to allocate at least 5 per cent of their loanable funds to the agricultural industry at reduced interest rates (Seini, 2002).

Contrary to the position of the British, Nkrumah believed that smallholder farming systems were difficult to modernise or develop; thus, there was a need for the government to set up statecontrolled farms to lay the foundation for commercial farming in the country (Songsore, 2003). Another reason was that small-scale farming was not in line with the socialist ideology of the Nkrumah government since the practice bred conservatism, acquisitiveness, and the promotion of bourgeois mentality (Killick, 1978).

Unfortunately, just like the commercial system introduced by the Dutch, this new system did not last long. The government encountered many problems in implementing this five-year policy, including funding or financial limitations, political interference issues, bad planning and management of the project, and the inflexibilities associated with a centralised state control system (Gyasi, 1996). For instance, Dapaah (1988; cited in Seini, 2002) lamented how only between 4.3 and 13.5 per cent of GDP was allocated to a major sector such as agriculture between 1961 and 65; meanwhile, more revenue was allocated to other socialised sectors. These limitations rendered the entire project unsustainable and non-functional, resulting in the discontinuation of this line of policy after Nkrumah's overthrow in 1966. The succeeding military government privatised these state-commercial farms but re-adopted the export-oriented approach the British colonial rulers used during the Gold Coast Era (Yaro, Teye, & Torvikey, 2018).

#### 4.3.2. 1966 – 1972: NLC and Agricultural Privatisation.

After the overthrow of the first government through a coup in 1966, the National Liberation Council (NLC) liberated the economy, reversing the economy to a market-oriented economy where Nkrumah's State farms were substituted with private or capitalist control of agricultural production (Khor, 2002). This capitalist or private agricultural production system involved large-scale farming, which employs the use of mechanised farming methods.

# 4.3.3. 1972 – 1980s: Acheampong's Idea of Fusion.

In 1972, the government led by General Acheampong modified the agricultural policy advanced by the previous government. With the new policy, the Acheampong government advocated for the development and adoption of large-scale private farming systems, just like the previous regime; however, the government also acknowledged the activities of smallholder or small-scale farmers in the country (Daddieh, 1994). One very profound statement in Ghanaian agricultural history is "Operation Feed Yourself", which was the title of a program introduced by the Acheampong government to promote subsistence farming, which is one of the main characteristics of smallholder agriculture (Yaro, Teye, & Torvikey, 2018). In addition to the OFY, there was also the Operation Feed Your Industries (OFYI) policies in 1972 (Khor, 2006; Seini, 2002), which focused on the production of crops such as cotton, rice, kenaf, and sugar cane, as well as other raw materials for the manufacturing sector. This resulted in the country becoming self-sufficient in the production of rice from 1974 to 1975 (Khor, 2002; Seini, 2002).

## 4.3.4. 1980s – 1990s.

In the early 1980s, the government at the time introduced programmes such as the Volta Regional Agricultural Development Programme (VORADEP), the Northern Regional Rural Integrated Project (NORIP), and the Managed Inputs Delivery and Agricultural Services (MIDAS) to make agricultural services and inputs available to smallholder farmers frequently (Seini, 2002). These programmes aimed to equip small-scale farmers with the facilities and inputs needed to upscale their production.

#### 4.3.5. 1990s - 2001.

In the early 1990s, the government introduced programmes such as the International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD), which also had the overarching objective of enhancing the output or productivity of smallholder farmers in areas such as the Northern, Upper East, Brong-Ahafo, Ashanti, and Volta Regions of the country (Seini, 2002). Also, the government of Ghana introduced the Vision 2020 programme in 1995, which included plans to accelerate the country's agricultural sector's growth by 2020 (Rawlings, 1995; Seini, 2002). The government envisaged an increase in annual growth from 4 per cent at the time of introduction to close to 6 per cent as of 2020 (Kolavalli et al., 2010; ReSAKSS, 2015; Seini, 2002).

# 4.3.6. 2001 - 2024.

During the Kufuor regime in 2001, the government introduced national policies such as the Accelerated Agricultural Growth and Development Strategy (AAGDS), the Food and Agricultural Sector Development Policy (FASDEP I & II) in 2002, the National Aquaculture Development Plan, among others (Appiah-Kubi, 2011), all with the main aim of augmenting the resources of small scale farmers, enabling them to increase productivity and scale up their cultivation. The current government has also shown some interest by introducing national policies such as the Planting for Food and Jobs (PFJ) and establishing the Ghana Exim Bank. They aim to contribute to the modernisation of the agricultural sector and improve the capacity and competitiveness of the country's agrarian sector through financing, respectively (AFI, 2018).

From this section, it is evident that smallholder or subsistence farming is as old as the Republic of Ghana, and it also shows how difficult it is to move away from those practices – whatever initial intentions governments may have had, policy always seems to have returned to compromise with

the reality of Ghana's smallholder system. With this background of failed attempts by various governments to change the country's agricultural system, it is not surprising that conflict was inevitable, given the Plant Variety Protection Act's embrace of the intellectual property rigidities of the TRIPS regime. The TRIPS system was unfavourable to the Ghanaian agricultural system and was thus understandably opposed by the farmers as well as civil society organizations.

# 4.4. AGRICULTURAL PRODUCTION IN GHANA.

Ghana's success as an agricultural producer is, in some sense, unique – it is a major exporter of agricultural products produced on uniquely small farms. However, this system has encountered challenges.

#### 4.4.1. Agricultural Products.

Despite Ghana's heavy reliance on small-scale farming, the country can boast of impressive successes in terms of its agricultural productivity over the years. Ghana's main agricultural products or commodities include cocoa, yam, banana, cassava, corn, oil palm, cotton, and coconut, among others (FAO, 2015). Regarding fruits and vegetables, Ghana produces mainly pineapple, citrus, banana, pawpaw, mango, tomato, pepper, okra, eggplant, and onion (MOFA, 2022). In 2020, Ghana was the second highest producer of cocoa worldwide, after the Ivory Coast (GIPC, 2022), and this has not changed as of 2022 (WPR, 2024). Ghana was the fourth largest producer of cassava worldwide, with a production capacity of 22 million tonnes in 2020 (GIPC, 2022). This is not so surprising since roughly 1 million hectares of farmland are used for cassava cultivation yearly, and about 70 per cent of farmers in Ghana are into cassava cultivation (ibid.). Additionally, when it comes to the production of yam worldwide, Ghana comes second after Nigeria, and this is evident in the year 2020, which saw the country's output of about 8.5 million tonnes of yam (GIPC, 2022).
### 4.4.2. Ghana's Heavy Reliance On Food Importation.

Despite these export successes, Ghana cannot be described as agriculturally self-reliant since it continues to import a lot of food crops and commodities from overseas. Ghana relies heavily on importation to supply its citizens with food products such as rice, wheat, sugar, and poultry (GAIN Report, 2012). About 1.3 million tonnes of rice were imported in 2020, compared to a million tonnes locally produced (GIPC, 2022). Again, in 2020, the country imported cereals such as wheat weighing 873,000 tonnes, soybeans weighing 84,333 tonnes, shea nuts weighing 49,963 tonnes, malt weighing 22,312 tonnes, apples totalling 11,160 tonnes, garlic weighing 7,081 tonnes, and tomatoes weighing about 4000 tonnes (GIPC, 2022). Moreover, it is reported that Ghana imported about \$2.6 billion in agricultural products in 2022, and agricultural imports from the United States alone (\$125.4 million) were about 5 per cent of the total imported value (ITA, 2023). Stumpf (2023) explained that the country's heavy reliance on imported goods stems from the fact that it has not leveraged its potential for internationally consumed food products such as mangoes, cashews, pineapples, and spices and has also not been able to meet the high-quality demands of food by the country's middle class.

#### 4.4.2.1. Poor Irrigation Fuelling Heavy Importation.

However, part of Ghana's heavy reliance on food imports can be attributed to its agricultural productivity being largely rain-fed (FAO, 2015; GIPC, 2022). In fact, no more than 1 per cent of arable land can be described as irrigated, and this results in the variation of production across the country, according to the natural distribution of rainfall (Martey, Al-Hassan, & Kuwornu, 2012). In the southern part of the country, March to July and September to October are the two main rain seasons present, whereas the Northern part has only one rainy season from May to October (MOFA, 2022).

In 2017, the Ghanaian government introduced the One Village, One Dam Policy, which aimed to make agriculture less rain-dependent to increase yield and productivity all year round (GIPC, 2022). However, these irrigation projects have been described as "thirsty dams" which cannot hold water for more than two months (Kobina, 2023). The irregular access to water or irrigation facilities has several dire implications on yields and productivity, particularly the unimpeded spread of pests and plant diseases (Stumpf, 2023). Ghana was actually banned from exporting some varieties of vegetables to the European Union in 2015 due to recurring pest infestations (Stumpf, 2023). The lack of irrigational facilities coupled with the adverse effects of climate change means that the country's days of agricultural importation are far from over.

## 4.5. CONCLUSION.

This chapter illustrates how important the agricultural sector is to the country's economy and why the Plant Variety Protection Act has been a very serious concern to a majority of its citizens. Smallholder or small-scale farming is deeply rooted in Ghanaian culture and has stood the test of time, dating as far back as the pre-colonial era. For a system as formidable as this, any attempts at alteration or modification must be generous and flexible enough to initiate a change.

However, Ghana's agricultural sector is struggling with problems such as irrigation, low levels of technology and other challenges associated with small-scale farming, which have culminated in the country's heavy reliance on food importation. Proponents of the Plant Variety Protection Act argue that all these problems can be solved directly or indirectly—through investments from foreign breeding companies. However, it is also important to understand the concerns raised by the opponents of the intellectual property regime on issues such as the rigidity in patenting criteria and biopiracy, the possibility of indigenous crops extinction, and the fear of foreign domination of

the country's patenting system. While trying to use the Plant Variety Protection Act to solve today's problems of agricultural productivity, it is also important to consider the issues raised by the opponents of the legislation, which focuses more on securing the country's best interests for its unborn generations.

# 5.0. IMPLEMENTING THE TRIPS REGIME IN GHANA – PLANT

# **BREEDERS' RIGHTS.**

Ghana's attempts to pass legislation to protect plant breeders' rights began in earnest in 2013 with the introduction of the Plant Breeders' Bill. This was in compliance with Article 27.3b of the TRIPS Agreement, which prescribes that member states must protect new plant varieties either through patents, an effective *sui generis* system—such as the PBR of the UPOV Convention—or a combination of both systems (WTO, 2000). Ghana's government decided to go with the second alternative provided by Article 27.3b of the TRIPS Agreement by joining the UPOV Convention, which offers a widely accepted *sui generis* system [the PVP] that protects patents on new plant varieties.

To join the UPOV-91 Convention, which is the most recent version of the UPOV, the organization requires states to first make their own legislation or laws which offer protection of breeders' rights and then deposit an "instrument of adherence or accession to the Convention", according to Article 34 of the UPOV-91 Convention (UPOV, 1991). Unfortunately, Ghana's first attempt at accession to the UPOV-91 Convention through Article 34 was unsuccessful, with the suspension of the Plant Breeders' Bill from the Ghanaian parliament in 2013 for further consultations<sup>7</sup>. This will be discussed in detail in the subsequent sections.

In 2020, after a change of government, the legislation resurfaced in the Ghanaian parliament, renamed the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Bill, which later became an Act of parliament after

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See column written by Food Sovereignty Ghana on Ghanaweb:

https://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/features/Investigate-Bagbin-Over-Plant-Breeders-Bill-335602

executive assent. According to Food Sovereignty Ghana in a press release published by PFAG (2020), the PVP Act was just a mere change of title, without any changes to the provisions of its predecessor, the Plant Breeders' Bill of 2013, as the government passed the Act without addressing the concerns raised by stakeholders.

This is a complex story, but it is highly unusual for legislation to essentially sit in a seven-year hiatus – especially legislation required under international trade law. These events were controversial and dramatic for Ghanian politics.

# 5.1. THE PLANT BREEDERS' BILL IN GHANA'S PARLIAMENT, 2013.

The Plant Breeders' Bill was first tabled in the House on 28th May 2013 (Appiah- Oppong, 2013). It was officially introduced to parliament for the first reading on Wednesday, 12<sup>th</sup> June 2013, following the standard legislative process of the Republic of Ghana (Bagbin, 2013). This Bill was introduced by Marietta Brew Appiah-Oppong, who was the Attorney-General and Minister responsible for Justice at the time. Following the law-making process and in fulfilment of Article 106(4) and (5) of Ghana's constitution and Order 179 of Parliament's Standing Orders, the Speaker referred the Bill to the Committee on Constitutional, Legal and Parliamentary Affairs for study and report (Bagbin, 2013). In November of 2013, the chairman of the committee presented the report to the house (ibid.), where he explained that aside from the exciting prospects new crop varieties would offer the agricultural sector, efforts made by Ghana's neighbouring countries to accede to the UPOV was also a driving factor behind the legislation (Adu-Gyamerah, 2013). It is reported by Adu-Gyamerah (2013) that all the MPs who contributed to the debate moved for the passage of the Bill apart from Dr. Mathew Opoku Prempeh, who drew the speaker's attention to

the opposing views advanced by Ghana National Farmers and Fishermen Association—and this is where the controversy began.

Leading to the Consideration Stage of the Bill, a number of groups including the Convention People's Party, the Peasant Farmers' Association of Ghana, and the Food Sovereignty Platform which consisted of the General Agricultural Workers Union, Vegetarian Association of Ghana, Rastafarian Council of Ghana, Centre for Indigenous Knowledge and Organizational Development, Ghana Muslim Mission, Catholic Bishops Conference, and the Ghana Trade and Livelihood Commission sent a petition to Parliament to suspend the Plant Breeders' Bill for further consultations with stakeholders (Ghana Web, 2013). In the petition, they raised concerns about the bill curtailing the rights and freedoms of peasant farmers, the erosion of crop diversity, and issues of biopiracy, just to mention a few. This petition gained significant momentum and attracted the interest of the masses. Core to this opposition was the concerns an interests of smallholder farmers, who play such a large role in Ghanian agriculture.

Public controversy and opposition grew at such a rate that at the Consideration Stage of the Bill, the Speaker of Ghana's Parliament was compelled by the overwhelming pressure from civil society organizations to suspend the passage of the Bill and refer the issue to a parliamentary select committee for further deliberations among various stakeholders. The suspension of the Bill was not enough to calm down the anxiety of these opposing groups, as serious protests against the Bill continued into the following year (Lamptey, 2014).

In fact, the legislation became a kind of "non-starter" in Ghanian politics as little effort was made to pursue deliberations or compromise, and the parliamentary select committee did little to support the Bill. Effectively, the legislation died, and Ghana remained in an ambiguous situation in relation to the TRIPS system on agricultural patent protection.

# 5.2. THE PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT AND ITS PASSAGE.

In February of 2020, talks about the government's intention to reintroduce the Plant Breeders' Bill resurfaced as the government organized a two-day "sensitization workshop" to educate farmers on the provisions of the bill and demystify their fears and anxieties (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020). The workshop was done by the Registrar General's department, and it was an attempt to increase support for the legislation and to facilitate its smooth reintroduction into parliament. Interestingly, only farmers were formally invited, with no formal invitation to any of the civil society organizations, such as Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020). According to one of the representatives from FSG who attended the workshop on the second day, participants were not allowed to ask follow-up questions or make further inputs, whereas the organizers of the workshop took entrenched positions and were not transparent about policy concerns.

Justifying why Ghana should join the UPOV-91 Convention, for instance, the organizers of the workshop argued that Ghana's neighbouring countries were all joining the UPOV-91 Convention; thus, it should be good enough for Ghana (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020). Effectively, without more open avenues to participation and even the ability to ask follow-up questions, the sensitization workshop's purpose was clear – to pressure farmers into supporting the legislation.

Hearing that the government was planning to table the Bill before parliament the following month, FSG organized a press conference in August of 2020, where they tried to rally public opposition (GNA, 2020). Later, in August of 2020, there was a joint press release from the Centre for Indigenous Knowledge and Organizational Development (CIKOD), the Peasant Farmers Association of Ghana, the Ghana Muslim Council and other farmer-based groups in the Upper East, Upper West and Northern regions opposing the likely reintroduction of the bill (Sore, 2020). They mounted more pressure on the parliament and even threatened to vote against MPs who would support the Bill during the 2020 general elections.

However, the bill was laid in parliament on the 9<sup>th</sup> of October 2020 by the Attorney-General, Gloria Akuffo (Parliament of Ghana, 2020). The new bill was renamed the Plant Variety Protection Bill. Following order 179 of the Standing Orders of the House, the Speaker referred the Bill to a parliamentary select committee for consideration and report (Parliament of Ghana, 2020).

On the 27<sup>th</sup> of October 2020, the Plant Variety Protection Bill was read for the second time in parliament, where a member of the committee stated that consensus had been reached among key stakeholders for the urgent passage of the bill—which was not really the case. In response, the Minority Leader, Haruna Idrisu, asked why the house had not been informed about the specific people involved in the consultation.<sup>8</sup> He added that the committee should provide the specific details of those consulted during the consideration stage of the legislation; however, this never happened.

Getting to the latter stages of the Bill's passage in parliament, another press conference was organized by opponents on the 2<sup>nd</sup> of November 2020, demanding its suspension for further consultation with relevant stakeholders (PFAG, 2020). This press conference saw the massive involvement of many groups and organizations, including the Peasant Farmers' Association of Ghana and the Platform, which consisted of Food Sovereignty Ghana (FSG), the General Agricultural Workers Union, the Vegetarian Association of Ghana, Rastafarian Council of Ghana,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See col. 087 – 088 of Hansard of The Parliament of Ghana on October 27, 2020, at https://www.parliament.gh/docs?type=HS&P=dc

Centre for Indigenous Knowledge and Organizational Development, Ghana Muslim Mission, Catholic Bishops Conference, and the Ghana Trade and Livelihood Commission (PFAG, 2020). This effort was in vain because, on the 4<sup>th</sup> of November, the bill was read again for the third time after which it was passed *without any objections raised*. Essentially, after languishing for seven years, the government rushed the existing legislation through parliament based on a dubious public consultation process and a general sense of urgency.

Opposition did not end with the passage of the Bill. After the passage, the farmers and the other civil society groups channelled their focus on the president and appealed to him to refuse to assent to the bill (Amenuveve, 2020; Awuni, 2020); however, that also proved futile. A year later, in November of 2021, the Food Sovereignty Ghana organization filed a case in Ghana's Supreme Court to challenge the passage of the Plant Variety Protection bill (Modern Ghana, 2021); however, the case was thrown out more recently in June of 2023 on the basis that the court's jurisdiction was not properly invoked (Agyeman, 2023).

## 5.3. WHY THE RUSH?

Given the previous glacial pace of compliance with the TRIPS regime, what has changed since 2020? The government has supported its position on the legislation and its handling of opposition on the basis that passing the Bill was necessary. Publicly, the government has argued that the PVP legislation offers many potential benefits to the country and its agricultural sector. However, there are a number of different motivations at work.

### 5.3.1. Compliance With TRIPS Agreement.

One of the main justifications for the Plant Variety Protection Act was simply that Ghana was obliged to comply with the TRIPS Agreement. Article 27.3b stipulates that member states must protect plant varieties using either the patent system, an effective sui generis system, or the fusion of both systems (WTO, 2000). Ghana is fulfilling this portion of the TRIPS Agreement by joining the UPOV-91 Convention, which provides an effective sui generis system in the form of the PVP.

This is effectively where the "rubber meets the road" in the global trade regime. Despite the problems that the regime potentially creates for Ghanian agriculture and the lack of flexibility it allows member states, on a basic level, Ghana has little choice but to adopt the system. Like all developing states, it is under considerable pressure to do so. Part of the reason for the sudden, dramatic reintroduction and passage of the legislation may have been to manage Ghanian society – essentially seizing the initiative to impose these rules before the opposition could build and again block the legislation.

### 5.3.2. Protection of Breeders' Rights and Promoting Breeding Activities.

Perhaps making the best of a difficult situation, supporters of the Bill argue that there are benefits. The PVP legislation is designed to safeguard the rights of breeders or innovators in the agricultural sector and promote the plant breeding industry. The government makes the case that breeding is largely capital-intensive and requires long-term investment. Understandably, entrepreneurs are not willing to invest in a breeding industry where their investments have no protection (WIPO, 2020; Ayenan & Danquah, 2015). The government cited an example with breeding agencies such as the Crops Research Institute and other private plant breeders, which were unable to generate appreciable dividends for their sponsors because the country's laws did not protect the rights of plant breeders prior to the introduction of the PVP legislation (Jordens & Button, 2011). With this, the government makes the case that protecting breeders' rights will promote breeding activities because breeders and sponsors alike have the confidence that they will benefit from their hard work.

### 5.3.3. Improve the Seed Industry.

Another point raised by the government to justify the passage of the Plant Variety Protection Act is that the legislation has the potential to transform the country's seed industry. While the risks to smallholders of multinational corporations taking ownership over seed varieties are large and hugely concerning to smallholders, the government argues that the Bill will attract the interests of established breeding firms and sponsors who will conduct more research into local crop varieties and develop new varieties that will be well suited to the needs and tastes of consumers (WIPO, 2020), Additionally, the government argues that the involvement of well-established and foreign breeding firms in the Ghanaian industry will engender the transfer of biotechnology and technical expertise, which will help improve the level of the seed industry in the country (WIPO, 2020). This improvement in the seed industry will enhance the country's ability and capacity to compete at the international level.

#### 5.3.4. Benefits to Farmers.

Finally, the government of Ghana strongly posits that farmers will be the primary beneficiaries of this legislation, arguing that with new high-quality variety of seeds at low prices, which are also immune to pests and other crop diseases (Grigg, 2001; WIPO, 2020). farmers stand to profit. Perhaps, if this legislation had been passed before 2015, Ghana would have avoided the 2015 European Union ban on agricultural exports into Europe, premised on recurring pest infestations

(Stumpf, 2023). The government explained that the Bill would provide farmers with better seeds, resulting in increased yields *without any expansion in land size*. This will lead to high productivity and economic growth without the need for government involvement in tackling the smallholder problem more directly.

Moreover, the government argues that clause 20.3 of the Plant Variety Protection Act allows farmers to save and replant seeds of protected varieties on their farms—albeit for the purpose of subsistence—without any disturbances from right holders (WIPO, 2020)

# 5.4. ARGUMENTS RAISED AGAINST THE PROVISIONS OF THE PVP ACT.

Despite the push from the government and other proponents of the Bill, opponents have been unflinching in their stance against the PVP legislation. They have been very consistent with protests, press conferences and statements to drive home their point on the need to alter some provisions of the PVP Act, as they believe it does not benefit the Ghanaian agricultural industry. The following section will detail their reservations about the Plant Variety Protection Act.

### 5.4.1. Unfavourable Patent Criteria and Bio-piracy Issues.

The most important point raised by the opponents of the Plant Variety Protection Act is that the criteria or requirements for patents under the confines of the PVP legislation are unfavourable and unsuitable to the nature of agricultural innovation in Ghana (De Jonge, 2014). Clause 3 of the legislation outlines the conditions or requirements necessary to protect plant breeders' rights, including newness, distinctness, uniformity, and stability (WIPO, 2020), and these requirements must be met simultaneously. As discussed above, innovation within the African agricultural setting is gradual, incremental, and communal, involving observations, trial-and-error, and informal

sharing of knowledge among farmers (Kim et al., 2012; Oguamanam, 2008). This means that most Ghanaian crop varieties that have existed for years will be rendered non-patentable because they may not be able to fulfil all requirements of Clause 3 of the Plant Variety Protection Act, including newness, distinctness, uniformity, and stability. This undermines the efforts and contributions made by Ghanaian farmers in biotechnological innovations over the years (Oguamanam, 2015; Amanor, 2011).

Additionally, the non-patentability of existing Ghanaian crop varieties not only undermines the efforts of Ghanaian farmers in innovation but also exposes these crop varieties to bio-piracy (Oguamanam, 2015). Bio-piracy refers to the piracy or unlawful use of local or bio-cultural knowledge of vulnerable societies through the exploitation of Intellectual property systems or power by other entities (Arewa, 2006; Mgeboji, 2006). In light of bio-piracy concerns, Food Sovereignty Ghana (FSG) raises a point on how the current legislation does not have any provisions that promote benefit sharing or even mandate the patent applicants to provide details on the origin of new crop varieties. They explain that the germ plasm used for the development of some of these new crop varieties, such as cowpea, have their origins in Ghanaian communities. Yet, these communities will not benefit because there is no provision for benefit sharing in the current legislation (FIAN, 2022). This is a typical negative implication of the PVP legislation on bio-piracy-related issues within the country's agricultural sector.

### 5.4.2. Foreign Competition and the "Early Bird" Situation.

Another major concern raised against the Plant Variety Protection Act is that it opens the country's patenting scene to foreign domination (Amanor, 2011), which does not auger well for the agricultural industry. This concern stems from section 9 of the Plant Variety Protection Act, which extends patent rights to applicants from foreign countries, provided they are members of any

agreement that Ghana is also a member of (WIPO, 2020). This provision of the PVP legislation upholds international values of non-discrimination and national treatment, which is pretty commendable within global politics and diplomacy. Unfortunately, these values are not favourable to developing countries like Ghana, especially at the early stages of implementing the PVP system. This is because, unlike other advanced countries which have had decades of experience with the UPOV system prior to the introduction of the TRIPS Agreement, Ghana is relatively new to UPOV and lacks the infrastructure and expertise to navigate the intricacies of the UPOV system (Bortey & Mpanju, 2016; Rock, 2018). This also implies that there exists a pool of patent holders in such developed countries who are ready to acquire patents now that the legislation has been made. As a result, it is very plausible that big firms and entrepreneurs from foreign countries will overrun the patent system in the country, resulting in the "early bird" situation where almost every patent in the agricultural sector is owned by foreign nationals and firms (Cleveland & Murray, 1997).

## 5.4.3. Extinction of Indigenous Crop Varieties.

Another concern raised against the Plant Variety Protection Act is the risk of losing indigenous crop varieties as a result. With this legislation, the government seeks to open the seed market to attract foreign and well-established breeding agencies; however, it is no secret that the primary aim of such agencies or firms is profit maximisation before anything else. Most of such seed breeding agencies invest in plant varieties which have global economic value, such as corn, wheat, rice, and potatoes, just to name a few (Oguamanam, 2015). More research goes into the development and advancement of these plants to the neglect of indigenous crops, which do not necessarily carry economic value. This renders such crops orphan and leads to their extinction since most farmers will be more inclined to cultivate crops with economic value, which means more income for them (Oguamanam, 2010; Oxfam, 2008; Altieri, 2002; Rock & Schurman, 2020).

An example is cited in Kenya, where ornamental plants such as roses had the highest number of patents compared to food crops such as maise, wheat, sorghum and Barley as of 2013 (KPEHIS, 2013). In extreme cases, as Dutfield (2008) explains, traditional or indigenous crop varieties are disparaged and eventually removed from the list of seeds approved by the State, making it difficult to find certain varieties of some crops.

In Ghana, this reality is not far from possible because a study done by Bortey and Mpanju (2016) revealed that in Ghana, the most important determinant for growing a particular crop or variety is easy access to seeds rather than the most preferred variety in the community. Cost of seeds, yield, and quality of seeds are less important determinants (ibid.). This behaviour of planting accessible seeds in combination with the focus on economically valuable seeds by breeding firms means that less economically valuable seeds stand the risk of extinction following the passage of the PVP legislation. The country stands the risk of having its food variety limited in the future because food choices could be controlled by these breeding firms (Oguamanam, 2015).

### 5.4.4. Ambush On Ghanaian Sovereignty.

Another important point that the opposition has advanced has to do with the State's sovereignty and how much control the state had in the formulation of this legislation. Recent developments have shown a trend where private foundations and aid donors have sought to use the media and journalists, in particular, to push the PBR agenda. One example is the Open Forum on Agricultural Biotechnology in Africa (OFAB)—funded by the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation—which trains journalists and editors to propagate pro-biotechnological ideas and lobby for biosafety policies in countries such as Ethiopia, Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, Tanzania and Uganda (AATF-OFAB, 2017). Also, in 2017, the US Embassy in Ghana held a 5-day media outreach program to train Ghanaian journalists to champion pro-biotechnology agendas in the country (Rock & 87 Schurman, 2020). Journalists are very influential in every jurisdiction and play a major role in shaping national policies. Judging from their sources of training and funding—the US and the Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation—which have foreign origins, it is unclear whose voice is actually being amplified by the works of these journalists. Opponents of the Bill are very disappointed because it appears these journalists have managed to convince parliament to do the will of non-nationals against the interests of nationals. This makes one wonder who actually makes laws and policies in the country.

Regardless, it must be remembered here that these kinds of efforts to shape how African states perceive their "interests" in intellectual property protection occur in an environment where those states are under considerable external pressure from the trade regime and multinational corporations to simply comply with the TRIPS system.

## 5.4.5. UPOV-91 is Not the Only Effective Sui Generis System.

One particularly interesting concern raised by the opponents is the selection of UPOV-91 as the standard approach for Ghana. In a press release by Food Sovereignty Ghana (PFAG, 2020), they expressed their disappointment and confusion on why the Ghanaian government was so bent on joining the UPOV Convention, especially when it is not the only effective *sui generis* system—and does not favour the interests of the country. The group has stated that the provision in article 27.3b of the TRIPS Agreement, which prescribes the member states to protect plant varieties with an effective *sui generis* system, is not limited to the UPOV only (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020) and cites examples of Thailand, Malaysia, and India which have designed Plant Variety Protection (PVP) systems with maximum flexibility.

Ghana could have tried other *sui generis* systems such as the African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), the Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), and CoFaB (Sahai, 2000), for instance, which provide more flexibility for developing economies. However, the government seems to have chosen the most limiting approach, albeit the one favoured by global interests.

### 5.4.6. Conflict With Other International Treaties.

Opponents also argue that Ghana's adoption and implementation of the legislation is a violation of some of the international agreements the country is already a member of. Ghana is a signatory of international treaties such as the Nagoya Protocol, the International Treaty on Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture (ITPGRFA), and the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Peasants (UNDROP) (FIAN, 2022). All these treaties protect the rights and freedoms of peasant farmers and allow them to sell and exchange seeds freely without any punishments. In contrast, the UPOV-91 Convention does not allow for peasant or smallholder farmers to exchange or sell seeds. In fact, this PVP legislation pronounces a minimum jail time of 10 years according to clause 60 (WIPO, 2020), which is even stricter than in advanced countries like the US [2 years] where big firms such as Monsanto operate. In a situation where there is going to be conflicting directives, it is worth noting that the government has chosen to pass a Bill which protects the rights of plant breeders over the rights of its own peasant farmers instead of creating a system which could benefit both parties.

## 5.5. CONCLUSION.

This chapter recounted the dramatic trajectory of plant protection in Ghana from the Plant Breeders' Bill (PBB) of 2013 to the current Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Act of 2020. This chapter highlighted the change in the government's posture from a democratic decision-making system in the PBB case to a more paternalistic decision style in the PVP case, where the government obstinately pushed the PVP legislation through parliament. Despite the numerous concerns and risks pointed out by opposers of the legislation, the government felt it had no choice and could not be left behind since some of the country's neighbours had already enacted similar legislation.

Considering the issues raised against the legislation and the deliberate disregard of other better options, it is not hard to agree with the PVP opposers that the government chose the worst possible system for Ghana.

## 6.0. CONCLUSIONS.

This thesis examined why plant breeders' rights and protection of the same has been a "thorny situation" in Ghana. It also sought to draw out lessons from the Ghanaian PVP story for the benefit of other countries in the global south, where there is similar opposition to laws such as the PVP.

Historically and culturally, Ghana's agricultural sector has been characterised by smallholder or small-scale farming, and this dates as far back as pre-independence or the Gold Coast era. In Chapter Four, this research provides a historical account of attempts made by various governments since the country's independence to modify this system of smallholder farming to a commercial or large-scale level of agricultural production to create more jobs, increase production to accommodate the growing food demands of the population, and also to bolster economic growth through more industrial farming practices. However, as argued above, the small-scale farming culture in Ghana and the politics that support it have been very resilient, as reform attempts have failed, and the country is still heavily reliant on small-scale farming for most of its food production.

Ghana also has a heavy reliance on food imports, which is one major implication of the smallscale system of farming because it leads to low levels of productivity. The lack of irrigational facilities to support the two main rainy seasons of the country is a factor in the low levels of agricultural productivity in the country. Proponents of intellectual property protection in agriculture see the Plant Variety Protection legislation as a solution to these underlying problems; when breeders' rights are protected, new seed varieties will be able to withstand pest infestations and require less irrigation to thrive (Grigg, 2001; WIPO, 2020; Shafiwu, Donkoh & Abdulai, 2022)

Despite this line of argument, opponents of the PVP legislation and a large population of Ghanaian farmers have not been fully convinced. This is because some provisions of the legislation pose

serious risks for many farmers – due to the rigid nature of the TRIPS Agreement and the way it has been implemented in Ghana.

As was argued in Chapter 2, the WTO's approach to TRIPS promotes the interests of developed countries through both the explicit exercise of power over developing countries and through its "discursive exercise of power" (Hopf, 1998) in terms of how it defines the norms surrounding intellectual property in a way that privileges the interests of multinational corporations at the expense of managing concrete, real-world problems in developing countries. West (2012) points out that in such cases, the indigenous knowledge processes and protection frameworks of developing nations are dismissed as deviant or, in some sense, "protectionist", thereby requiring transitional periods to adopt global norms and ongoing oversight.

In the case of agricultural IP protection, the opponents of the PVP Legislation—which emanates from the WTO's TRIPS Agreement—have complained that its requirements of novelty, distinctness, uniformity, and stability are unattainable by the average Ghanaian farmer. These standards do not conform with the nature of agricultural innovation in Ghana, which is gradual, informal, incremental, and communal in nature. Consequently, this problem renders most of the country's existing crop varieties non-patentable and vulnerable to biopiracy. For a country that has a very resilient culture of smallholder farming and depends on that system for most of its agricultural production, a law that does not favour the interests of smallholder farmers was inevitably going to be controversial. Smallholders are politically powerful, and the adoption of the TRIPS regime is understandably worrying for them.

Compliance with the TRIPS Agreement and the passage of the PVP legislation is partly dependent on the country's existing policy-making structure. This follows Filomeno's (2014) theory (see chapter two) that countries that use a corporatist process of IP decision-making are more likely to have weaker IP protection laws, whereas states that use a rather pluralist or a state capture and abstention pattern are more likely to have stronger IP protection laws. This is evident in the case of Ghana's previous Plant Breeders' Bill (PBB) of 2013, which was suspended from parliament because the government employed a corporatist decision-making process where many stakeholders were involved in the decision-making. The PBB was unpassable in that context, resulting in the extremely odd situation of legislation effectively sitting dormant for seven years.

After a change of government in 2016, the decision-making process changed to one that appears to be more of the "state capture or abstention style", where specific government agencies took decisions without the input of stakeholders, and ultimately, state resources were used to limit and block internal domestic political opposition. This permitted the easy passage of the recycled PBB in the new name of the Plant Variety Protection (PVP) Bill. This new government is known for its state capture or abstention style of decision-making, and it is not surprising how the term "state capture" has gained much popularity within Ghanaian politics, especially this year<sup>9</sup>. The government has used this style in other areas – for example, the abolishment of the collection of road tolls in 2022 without listening to the concerns of stakeholders (Ahinsah-Wobil, 2022). It is very clear that the PVP law was passed not necessarily because it met the needs of the people but because of the government's style of decision-making and because, ultimately, the government supported the policy goals of global agricultural interests and institutions.

While many developing countries have encountered similar controversies in the politics of TRIPS implementation, the long, drawn-out struggle in Ghana is notable. In the West African region,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See news article where former president Mahama accuses the current government of state capture at https://www.modernghana.com/news/1331947/akufo-addos-govt-must-be-held-accountable-for.html

Ghana has simply been a "late adopter" of the kind of agricultural patent protection system desired by global interests.

The reasons for this seem clear. Despite its many shortfalls, Ghana's smallholder farming system is very resilient and difficult to change, and those smallholding farmers were opposed to the implementation of the IP regime, but they remain so. The requirements of the PVP legislation – the particular nuances of the TRIPS-mandated system Ghana has decided to adopt are particularly rigged and run counter to the reality of how agricultural innovation has occurred there – it simply is not flexible enough to convince farmers and the people to accept the regime. Ultimately, the PVP legislation only became law because the state and its agencies forced it through parliament in part because of a growing sense that Ghana was lagging behind in TRIPS compliance.

For Ghanaian farmers and the agricultural sector in general, the adoption of this legislation imposes real costs and dangers. These include the possibilities of bio-piracy of indigenous technology by foreign firms, monopoly of the seed market leading to high costs of seeds, and extinction of indigenous crop varieties which do not necessarily carry economic value.

This paper has mainly argued that the controversies around the passage of the PVP legislation and the protection of breeders' rights in Ghana mainly can be attributed to the inflexibilities inherent in the TRIPS Agreement and the UPOV-91 Convention. Although the "harm" has already been caused, laws and policies can always be reviewed and modified to meet the real needs of the people.

There are general lessons in this. Implementing the controversial aspects of WTO trade law seems best served by a top-down "industry capture" style of policymaking – domestic opposition and democracy have to be managed rather than embraced. Choosing an IP protection scheme that is

most in line with the demands of multinationals and least flexible for local needs is probably a poor choice from both a policy perspective and a poor change from the perspective of getting legislation passed at all.

## 6.2. RECOMMENDATIONS.

For a developing nation in the global south like Ghana, it is imperative that international laws WTO rules, are flexible enough to adapt to the local setting. Indeed, based on this in-depth examination of the situation in Ghana, it is possible to outline suggested reforms to the system that might enjoy broader political support and perhaps even be "good" for Ghanaian agriculture.

For example, Article 27.1 of the TRIPS Agreement, which demands the "newness" of crop varieties as a requirement for patents, could or should have been modified so that existing Ghanaian crop varieties with unknown or untraceable origins of creators—because of the gradual and incremental process of agricultural innovation—could also qualify for patents and escape the risk of biopiracy. Essentially, existing seeds and agricultural IP could have remained available for the free use of Ghanaian farmers. It is actually hard to understand how such a change would conflict with the basic purposes of the TRIPS regime unless part of the goal was to facilitate biopiracy.

Similarly, the Plant Variety Act could or should have included a provision which demands that foreign firms—which claim that their plant varieties are new—provide the origin of propagators to prevent biopiracy of existing Ghanaian crop varieties.

For a specific number of years, the TRIPS Agreement could allow developing countries that are fairly new to IP protection in agriculture to either determine which crop varieties can be patented

or should be allowed to put a quota on what percentage of patents can be given to foreign plant breeders. This could help mitigate the complete overtake of the agricultural system and allow Ghanaian breeders to benefit from the policy.

The bottom line is that Ghana had or has the option to choose other effective *sui generis* systems that are well suited to its agricultural setting, or it could even create its own system. There exist several effective *sui generis* systems, such as the African Model Law (Ekpere, 2003), the Utility Model (Kim, Lee, Park, & Choo, 2012), and CoFaB (Sahai, 2000), for instance, which Ghana can adopt, since they provide more flexibility for developing countries as compared to the UPOV-91 system. Alternatively, Ghana can learn from the examples of countries such as Thailand, Malaysia, and India, just to mention a few, which have designed their own Plant Variety Protection (PVP) systems with maximum flexibility (Food Sovereignty Ghana, 2020).

Finally, the opposition to the PVP legislation, which remains considerable, has argued that the government should put more effort into dealing with the "real issues" affecting agricultural productivity, things like post-harvest losses. The government could invest in storage facilities to enable farmers to store excess food. The government could focus more on providing good road networks to help speed up the transportation of farm produce to major markets in the city. Additionally, the government could put more effort into the provision of irrigation facilities, such as dams in farming communities, to augment the two main rainy seasons in the country and ensure that farmers have access to water all year round. All these things would also help increase agricultural productivity without imposing the kind of risks on small-holding farmers that the PVP legislation does.

Finally, the government of Ghana should adopt decision-making styles that consider the concerns and inputs of various stakeholders. The problem of low agricultural productivity in recent times presents a critical juncture in public policy (Pierson, 2000), where the government must make a serious decision that will have long-term, reinforcing implications. As Pierson (2000) advises, governments must be careful in such instances because policy changes can be difficult or impossible to reverse. In issues such as agriculture, where there exist many varying interests and opinions, it is important that the decision-making process takes the concerns of all stakeholders into consideration so that a proper consensus can be reached. To put it bluntly, Ghana has chosen an IP regime that may have very serious and damaging long-term consequences.

# References

- AATF-OFAB. (2017). *A Decade of Success 2006-2016*. Retrieved June 09, 2024, from Afrocam Agricultural Technology Foundation: https://www.aatf-africa.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/OFAB-Success-Story1.pdf
- Abbott, F. (2002). The TRIPS Agreement, Access to Medicines, and the WTO Doha Ministerial Conference. *The Journal of World Intellectual Property*, *5*(1), 15-52. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-1796.2002.tb00147.x
- Abbott, F., & Reichman, J. (2007). The Doha Round's Public Health Legacy: Strategies for the Production and Diffusion of Patented Medicines Under the Amended TRIPS Provisions. *Journal of International Economic Law, 10*(4), 921-987.
- Adu-Gyamerah, E. (2013, November 11). Plant Breeders Bill passes through second reading. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Graphic Online: https://www.graphic.com.gh/news/politics/plant-breeders-bill-passes-through-second-reading.html
- AFI. (2018, December 06). Agricultural finance intervention in Ghana. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from Alliance for Financial Inclusion: https://www.afiglobal.org/publications/agricultural-finance-intervention-in-ghana/
- Agyeman, A. (2023, June 01). Supreme Court throws out lawsuit challenging plant breeders' regulation. Retrieved from Adom Online: https://www.adomonline.com/supreme-courtthrows-out-lawsuit-challenging-plant-breeders-regulation/
- Ahinsah-Wobil, I. (2022, July 24). *Ghana's Road Toll and E-Levy: The Consideration for a Good IMF Deal.* Retrieved from SSRN: https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4171809
- Amanor, K. S. (2011). From Farmer Participation to Pro-poor Seed Markets: The Political Economy of Commercial Cereal Seed Networks in Ghana. *The Politics of Seed in Africa's Green Revolution*, 42(4), 48-58. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1759-5436.2011.00235.x
- Amenuveve, V. (2020, November 07). Group appeals to President over Plant Variety Protection Bill. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Graphic Online: https://www.graphic.com.gh/news/politics/group-appeals-to-president-over-plant-varietyprotection-bill.html?template=ghananewsp&is\_preview=on
- Ansong, A. (2018). Is the Protection of Traditional Knowledge Feasible under Intellectual Property Law and Other International Regimes? *Estey Journal of International Law and Trade Policy*, 19(1), 13-29. doi:10.22004/ag.econ.276240

- Antons, C. (2016). Article 27(3)(b) TRIPS and Plant Variety Protection in Developing Countries. In H. Ullrich, R. Hilty, M. Lamping, & J. Drexl (Eds.), *TRIPS plus 20. MPI Studies on Intellectual Property and Competition Law* (Vol. 25, pp. 389-414). Berlin: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-48107-3\_12
- Appiah- Oppong, M. B. (2013, May). *Plant Breeders Bill, 2013*. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Parliament of Ghana: https://repository.parliament.gh/bitstream/handle/123456789/526/Ghana%20Plant%20Br eeders%20Bill%20.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Appiah-Kubi, K. (2011, August 07). President Kufuor's Agricultural Legacy For Ghana. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from Ghana Web: https://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/features/President-Kufuor-s-Agricultural-Legacy-For-Ghana-215751
- Arewa. (2006). Piracy, Biopiracy and Borrowing: Culture, Cultural Heritage and the Globalization of Intellectual Property. *Case Legal Studies Research Paper*, 4(19). Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=596921
- Awuni, F. (2020, November 06). Don't assent to 'obnoxious' Plant Variety Protection Bill Group to Akufo-Addo. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from CBN: https://citibusinessnews.com/2020/11/dont-assent-to-obnoxious-plant-variety-protectionbill-group-to-akufo-addo/
- Ayenan, M. A., & Danquah, A. (2015). Implications of Plant Breeder Bill on Breeding activities in Ghana: Prospective Analysis. 5è Colloque des Sciences, Cultures et Technologies de l'Université d'Abomey-Calavi, Université d'Abomey-Calavi (pp. 1-12). Abomey-Calavi, Benin: HAL Open Science. Retrieved June 09, 2024, from https://hal.science/hal-01393152v2
- Azumah, O. K., & Noah, S. (2023). Land Rights in Ghana. *Open Journal of Social Sciences*, *11*(6), 20-32. doi:https://doi.org/10.4236/jss.2023.116002
- Bagbin, A. S. (2013, November). Report of the Committee on Constitutional, Legal and Parliamentary Affairs on the Plant Breeder's Bill. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Parliament of Ghana: https://ir.parliament.gh/bitstream/handle/123456789/3467/Report%20of%20the%20Com mittee%20on%20Constitutional%2C%20Legal%20and%20Parliamentary%20Affairs%2 0on%20the%20Plant%20Breeder%E2%80%99s%20Bill.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y
- Bhide, A. (2015, January). The Demise of US Dynamism Is Vastly Exaggerated But Not All Is Well (Working Paper No. 84). Retrieved from The Center on Capitalism and Society: https://capitalism.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/content/docs/working%20papers/amar\_ bhide\_working\_paper\_84\_demise\_of\_dynamism.pdf

- Bortey, H., & Mpanju, F. (2016). Adoption of Plant Breeders' Rights System: Perceived Implication for Food, Seed Security and Sovereignty in Ghana. *NIScPR Online Periodicals Repository*, 21(2), 96-104. doi:https://nopr.niscpr.res.in/handle/123456789/34084
- Boyle, J. (2008). *The Public Domain: Enclosing the Commons of the Mind*. Yale University Press. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt1npvzg
- Boyle, J., & Jenkins, J. (2014). *Intellectual Property: Law & the Information Society—Cases and Materials*. CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- Campi, M., & Nuvolari, A. (2021). Intellectual Property Rights and Agricultural Development: Evidence from a Worldwide Index of IPRs in Agriculture (1961-2018). *The Journal of Development Studies*, 57(4), 650-668. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00220388.2020.1817395
- Chisum, D. S., Ochoa, T. T., Ghosh, S., & LaFrance, M. (2015). Understanding Intellectual *Property Law* (3rd ed.). LexisNexis.
- Cleveland, D., & Murray, S. C. (1997). The World's Crop Genetic Resources and the Rights of Indigenous Farmers. *Current Anthropology*, *38*(4), 477-515.
- Commission on Intellectual Property Rights. (2002, September 12). *Integrating Intellectual Property Rights and Development Policy*. London: Commission on Intellectual Property Rights. Retrieved from http://www.iprcommission.org/papers/text/final\_report/reporthtmfinal.htm
- Cornish, W. (1989). Intellectual Property: Patents, Copyright, Trade Marks and Allied Rights (2nd ed.). London: Sweet & Maxwell.
- Correa, C. M. (2000, December). 'Options for the implementation of Farmers' Rights at the national level. Retrieved February 07, 2024, from Farmers' Rights: https://www.farmersrights.org/getfile.php/132069-1663062618/Dokumenter/Options For The Implementation Of Farmers Righ.pdf
- Daddieh, C. K. (1994). Contract farming and palm oil production in Côte d'Ivoire and Ghana. In R. Little, & M. Watts (Eds.), *Living Under Contract: Contract Farming and Agrarian Transformation in sub-Saharan Africa.* (pp. 188-215). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Darfour, B., & Rosentrater, K. (2016, July). Agriculture and Food Security in Ghana. Retrieved May 31, 2024, from American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers: https://elibrary.asabe.org/abstract.asp?aid=47207
- de Beer, J., Armstrong, C., Oguamanam, C., & Schonwetter, T. (Eds.). (2014). *Innovation & Intellectual Property: Collaborative Dynamics in Africa*. Cape Town: UCT Press.

- De Beukelaer, C., & Fredriksson, M. (2018). The political economy of intellectual property rights: the paradox of Article 27 exemplified in Ghana. *Review of African Political Economy*, 1-21. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/03056244.2018.1500358
- De Jonge, B. (2014). Plant Variety Protection in Sub-Saharan Africa: Balancing Commercial and Smallholder Farmers' Interests. *Journal of Politics and Law*, 7(3), 100-111. Retrieved from https://d1wqtxts1xzle7.cloudfront.net/38002833/B\_De\_Jonge\_-\_Plant\_Variety\_Protection\_in\_Sub-Saharan\_Africa\_-\_JPL\_2014libre.pdf?1435242347=&response-contentdisposition=inline%3B+filename%3DPlant\_Variety\_Protection\_in\_Sub\_Saharan.pdf&Ex pires=1714548506&Si
- De Jonge, B. (2014). Plant Variety Protection in Sub-Saharan Africa: Balancing Commercial and Smallholder Farmers' Interests. *Journal of Politics and Law, 7*(3), 100-111. doi:https://doi.org/10.5539/jpl.v7n3p100
- Deere, C. (2009). The Implementation Game: The TRIPS Agreement and the Global Politics of Intellectual Property Reform in Developing Countries. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Dhar, B., & Chaturvedi, S. (1998). Introducing plant breeders' rights in India: A critical evaluation of the proposed legislation. *Journal of World Intellectual Property*, 1, 245-262.
- Drahos, P. (2001). Bits and Bips: Bilateralism in Intellectual Property. *The Journal of World Intellectual Property, 4*, 791-808. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-1796.2001.tb00138.x
- Drahos, P. (2002). Negotiating Intellectual Property Rights: Between Coercion and Dialogue. In
  P. Drahos, & R. Mayne (Eds.), *Global Intellectual Property Rights* (pp. 161-182).
  London: Palgrave Macmillan. doi:https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230522923\_10
- Drahos, P., & Braithwaite, J. (2002). *Information Feudalism: Who Owns the Knowledge Economy?* New York: Taylor & Francis.
- Dutfield, G. (2004). *Intellectual Property, Biogenetic Resources and Traditional Knowledge* (1st ed.). London: Routledge. doi:https://doi.org/10.4324/9781849775847
- Dutfield, G. (2006). To Copy is to Steal': TRIPS (Un)free Trade Agreements and the New Intellectual Property Fundamentalism. *Journal of Information, Law, and Technology, 1*. Retrieved from https://warwick.ac.uk/fac/soc/law/elj/jilt/2006\_1/dutfield
- Dutfield, G. (2011). The role of the international Union for the Protection of New Varieties of Plants (UPOV). *QUNO Intellectual Property Issues Paper Number 9*, 1-20. Retrieved from https://quno.org/sites/default/files/resources/UPOV%2Bstudy%2Bby%2BQUNO\_Englis h.pdf

- Dutfield, G. (2019). The globalisation of plant variety protection: Are developing countries still policy takers? In C. Correa, & X. Seuba (Eds.), *Intellectual property and development: Understanding the interfaces* (pp. 277–293). Singapore: Springer.
- Dzanku, F. M., & Udry, C. (2017). Flickering Decades of Agriculture and Agricultural Policy. In E. Aryeetey, & R. kanbur (Eds.), *The Economy of Ghana Sixty Years After Independence*. (pp. 157-175). New York: Oxford University Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198753438.003.0010
- Ekpere, J. A. (2003). The African Union Model Law for the Protection of the Rights of Local Communities Farmers and Breeders and the Regulation of Access to Biological Resources 1. In C. Bellmann, & R. Melendez-Ortiz (Eds.), *Trading in Knowledge: Development Perspectives on TRIPS, Trade and Sustainability* (pp. 232-237). London: Routledge. doi:https://doi.org/10.4324/9781849773447
- FAO. (2015, March). Ghana Country fact sheet on food and agriculture policy trends. Retrieved May 29, 2024, from Open Knowledge: https://openknowledge.fao.org/server/api/core/bitstreams/14306bdc-d61e-480a-9d59e9fc709de11f/content
- Ferreira, V., Almazan-Gomez, M. A., Nechifor, V., & Ferrari, E. (2022). The role of the agricultural sector in Ghanaian development: a multiregional SAM-based analysis. *Journal of Economic Structures*, 11(6). doi:https://doi.org/10.1186/s40008-022-00265-9
- FIAN. (2022, September 13). Food Sovereignty Ghana fights for right to seeds. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from FIAN INTERNATIONAL: https://www.fian.org/en/news/article/food-sovereignty-ghana-fights-for-right-to-seeds-3005
- Filomeno, F. A. (2013). State capacity and intellectual property regimes: Lessons from South American soybean agriculture. *Technology in Society*, 35(2), 139-152. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2013.01.002
- Filomeno, F. A. (2014). Patterns of Rule-Making and Intellectual Property Regimes: Lessons from South American Soybean Agriculture. *Comparative Politics*, 46(4), 439-458. doi:https://doi.org/10.5129/001041514812522743
- Food Sovereignty Ghana. (2020, July 29). *The Obnoxious Plant Breeders' Bill Is Back To Parliament!* Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Modern Ghana: https://www.modernghana.com/news/1019682/the-obnoxious-plant-breeders-bill-is-backto-parl.html#google\_vignette
- Fowler, C. (1995). Biotechnology, Patents and the Third World. In V. Shiva, & I. Moser (Eds.), *Biopolitics. A Feminist and Ecological Reader on Biotechnology* (pp. 214-225). London: Zed Books and Penang.

- Frankel, S., & Gervais, D. (2016). International intellectual property rules and parallel imports. In I. Calboli, & E. Lee (Eds.), *Research Handbook on Intellectual Property Exhaustion* and Parallel Imports (pp. 85-105). Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing. doi:https://doi.org/10.4337/9781783478712
- GAIN Report. (2012). Ghana Exporter Guide. USDA Foreign Agricultural Service. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from https://apps.fas.usda.gov/newgainapi/api/report/downloadreportbyfilename?filename=Gh ana%20Exporter%20Guide%202012\_Accra\_Ghana\_11-2-2012.pdf
- GATT Secretariat. (1991, December 20). Draft Final Act Embodying the Results of the Uruguay Round of Multilateral Trade Negotiations. Retrieved from World Trade Organization : https://www.wto.org/gatt\_docs/English/SULPDF/92130093.pdf
- Ghana Web. (2013, November 24). FSG Petitions Parliament Over Plant Breeders' Bill. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Ghana Web: https://www.ghanaweb.com/GhanaHomePage/NewsArchive/FSG-Petitions-Parliament-Over-Plant-Breeders-Bill-293102#google\_vignette
- Ginarte, J. C., & Park, W. G. (1997). Determinants of patent rights: A cross-national study. *Research Policy*, 26(3), 283-301. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-7333(97)00022-X
- GIPC. (2022, November). *Ghana's Agriculture Sector Report*. Retrieved from Ghana Investment Promotion Centre: https://www.gipc.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/Ghanas-Agriculture-Sector-Report-1.pdf
- Glozah, F. N., & Pevalin, D. J. (2021). Participation and attitudes towards gambling in Ghanaian youth: an exploratory analysis of risk and protective factors. *International Journal of Adolescent Medicine and Health*, 30(4), 1-9. doi:https://doi.org/10.1515/ijamh-2018-0175
- GNA. (2020, August 22). CSO rejects plans to implement Plant Breeders Bill. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Ghana News Agency: https://gna.org.gh/2020/08/cso-rejects-plans-to-implement-plant-breeders-bill/#google vignette
- Golay, C., & Fulya, B. (2021). Practical manual on the right to seeds in Europe: the United Nations Declaration On The Rights Of Peasants And Other People Working In Rural Areas and the right to seeds in Europe. *Geneva Academy*, 19, 1-56. Retrieved from https://www.geneva-academy.ch/joomlatools-files/docman-files/Briefing%2019.pdf
- GRAIN. (2000, June 25). Last Chance for an Open Access Regime? Retrieved February 07, 2024, from GRAIN: https://grain.org/en/article/296-last-chance-for-an-open-accessregime

- Grigg, D. B. (2001). Green Revolution. In N. J. Smelser, & P. B. Baltes (Eds.), *International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences* (pp. 6389-6393). Sheffield: Pergamon. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/B0-08-043076-7/04157-7
- GSS. (2019, June). *Ghana Living Standards Survey* 7. Retrieved from Ghana Statistical Services: https://www.statsghana.gov.gh/gssmain/fileUpload/pressrelease/GLSS7%20MAIN%20R EPORT\_FINAL.pdf
- Gyasi, E. A. (1996). The environmental impact and sustainability of plantations in sub-Saharan Africa: Ghana's experiences with oil palm plantations. In E. Gyasi, & J. Uitto (Eds.), Sustaining the Future – Economic, Social and Environmental Change in sub-Saharan Africa. (pp. 342-357). Tokyo: United nations University Press.
- Helfer, L. R. (2004). Regime Shifting: The TRIPs Agreement and New Dynamics of International Intellectual Property Lawmaking. *Yale Journal of International Law 1*, 1-83. Retrieved from https://scholarship.law.duke.edu/faculty\_scholarship/2014/
- Helfer, L. R. (2009). Regime Shifting in the International Intellectual Property System. *Perspectives on Politics*, 7(1), 39-44. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/S1537592709090069
- Hilson, G. (2002). Harvesting mineral riches: 1000 years of gold mining in Ghana. *Resources Policy*, 28(1-2), 13-26. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0301420703000023
- Hopf, T. (1998). The Promise of Constructivism in International Relations Theory. *International Security*, 23(1), 171-200.
- Huddleston, P., & Tonts, M. (2007). Agricultural Development, Contract Farming and Ghana's Oil Palm Industry. *Geography*, 92(3), 266-278. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/00167487.2007.12094205
- Hunter, R. (2016). Incentivizing Innovation: The Imperative of Intellectual Property Protection. *The Brown Journal of World Affairs*, 22(2), 161-172. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/26534700
- ITA. (2023, November 26). Ghana Country Commercial Guide. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from International Trade Administration: https://www.trade.gov/country-commercialguides/ghana-agricultural-sectors
- Jackson, R. (1992). New Mines for Old Gold: Ghana's Changing Mining Industry. *Geography*, 77(2), 175-178. Retrieved from http://www.jstor.org/stable/40572166
- Jordens, R., & Button, P. (2011). Effective system of Plant Variety Protection in Responding to Challenges of a changing World: UPOV Perspective. *Journal of Intellectual Property Right, 16*, 74-83.

- Khor, M. (2002). Rethinking Intellectual Property Rights and TRIPS. In P. Drahos, & R. Mayne (Eds.), *Global Intellectual Property Rights* (pp. 201-213). London: Palgrave Macmillan. doi:https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230522923 12
- Killick, T. (1978). *ent Economics in Action: A Study of Economic Policies in Ghana*. Fakenham: Fakenham Press Ltd.
- Kim, Y. K., Lee, K., Park, W. G., & Choo, K. (2012). Appropriate intellectual property protection and economic growth in countries at different levels of development. *Research Policy*, 41(2), 358-375. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2011.09.003
- Klein, N. (1999). No Logo: Taking Aim at the Brand Bullies . Knopf Canada.
- Kobina, J. (2023, July 18). Thirsty Dams: Tracking the 1 village 1 Dam policy || JoyNews Hotline Documentary. *Joy News Documentary*. Bongo, Nothern Region, Ghana. Retrieved July 05, 2024, from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pKzfR8imRhU

Kolavalli, S., Flaherty, K., Al-Hassan, R., & Baah, K. O. (2010, July). Do Comprehensive Africa Agriculture Development Program (CAADP) Processes Make a Difference to Country Commitments to Develop Agriculture? Retrieved June 05, 2024, from International Food Policy Research Institute: https://www.google.com/url?sa=i&url=https%3A%2F%2Febrary.ifpri.org%2Fdigital%2F api%2Fcollection%2Fp15738coll2%2Fid%2F2984%2Fdownload&psig=AOvVaw1cfhvx W25ZjH0lxXgYzTDC&ust=1717653071510000&source=images&cd=vfe&opi=899784 49&ved=0CAcQrpoMahcKEwjY2eLc4sOGAxUA

KPEHIS. (2013, June). ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2013. Retrieved June 09, 2024, from kenya Plant Health Inspecorate Service: https://kephis.go.ke/sites/default/files/2024-04/2013%20Annual%20Report\_0.pdf#page=7.09

Kuudogrme, B. B. (2018, December). TOWARDS THE EFFECTIVE UTILISATION OF TRADE-RELATED ASPECTS OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS FLEXIBILITIES TO IMPROVE ACCESS TO ESSENTIAL MEDICINES IN GHANA . Retrieved from UNIVERSITY OF THE WESTERN CAPE: https://etd.uwc.ac.za/bitstream/handle/11394/6825/KUUDOGRME\_LLM\_LAW\_2018.pd f?sequence=4&isAllowed=y

Lamptey, L. (2014, January 30). Huge Row Over GMOs As Thousands Protest In Accra. Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Modern Ghana: https://www.modernghana.com/news/519054/1/huge-row-over-gmos-as-thousandsprotest-in-accra.html

- Latif, A. A. (2005). Developing Country Coordination in International Intellectual Property Standard Setting. *T.R.A.D.E. Working Paper No. 24*, 1-51. Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=2120196
- Lessig, L. (2004). Free Culture: How Big Media Uses Technology and the Law to Lock Down Culture and Control Creativity. Penguin Press.
- Llewelyn, M., & Adcock, M. (2006). *European Plant Intellectual Property*. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Manteaw, S. O. (2008-2010). Patents and Development in Ghana: Proposals for Change. University of Ghana Law Journal, 111-144. Retrieved from https://sollib.ug.edu.gh/index.php?p=show detail&id=2623&keywords=
- Manu, T. (2016). Ghana Trips Over the TRIPS Agreement on Plant Breeders' Rights. African Journal of Legal Studies, 9, 20-45. Retrieved from https://brill.com/view/journals/ajls/9/1/article-p20\_2.xml
- Martey, E., Al-Hassan, R., & Kuwornu, J. (2012). Commercialization of smallholder agriculture in Ghana: A Tobit regression analysis. *African Journal of Agricultural Research*, 7, 2131-2141. Retrieved from https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Commercialization-ofsmallholder-agriculture-in-A-Martey-Al-Hassan/358af72779cd5d8dc7736cc8c5cd68fe88c96304
- MASIPAG. (2002). A backgrounder on Farmers' Rights. Los Banos, Philippines: MASIPAG.
- Maskus, K. (2000). *Intellectual Property Rights in the Global Economy*. Washington DC: Institute for International Economics. Retrieved from https://www.piie.com/bookstore/intellectual-property-rights-global-economy
- Mgeboji, I. (2006). Global Biopiracy. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Modern Ghana. (2021, November 12). FSG goes to Supreme Court over UPOV Convention. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Modern Ghana: https://www.modernghana.com/news/1118169/fsg-goes-to-supreme-court-over-upovconvention.html
- MOFA. (2015, May 07). *Plant Breeders' Bill of Ghana, October 1, 2013*. Retrieved from UPOV: https://www.upov.int/edocs/mdocs/upov/en/c\_47/plant\_breeders\_bill\_of\_ghana.pdf#page =9.16
- MOFA. (2022, September). FACTS & FIGURES: AGRICULTURE IN GHANA, 2021. Retrieved May 31, 2024, from Ghana Ministry of Food and Agriculture: https://mofa.gov.gh/site/images/pdf/AGRICULTURE%20IN%20GHANA%20(Facts%20 &%20Figures)%202021.pdf

- Mukherjee, S. (2023). Chapter 6 TRIPS Agreement: The Negotiating History of the TRIPS Agreement and Patent Exhaustion (Vol. 13). Leiden, The Netherlands: Brill | Nijhoff. doi:https://doi.org/10.1163/9789004542815\_008
- Nayyar, D. (2002). Governing Globalization: Issues and Institutions. Oxford University Press.
- Oguamanam, C. (2006). Intellectual Property Rights in Plant Genetic Resources: Farmers' Rights and Food Security in Indigenous and Local Communities. *Drake Journal of Agricultural Law, 11*, 273-305.
- Oguamanam, C. (2007). Agro-Biodiversity and Food Security: Biotechnology and Traditional Agricultural Practices at the Periphery of International Intellectual Property Regime Complex. *Michigan State Law Review*, 215-255.
- Oguamanam, C. (2008). Local knowledge as trapped knowledge: intellectual property, culture, power and politics. *Journal of World Intellectual Property, 11*(1), 29-57.
- Oguamanam, C. (2015). Breeding Apples for Oranges: Africa's Misplaced Priority Over Plant Breeders' Rights. *The Journal of World Intellectual Property*, *18*(5), 165-195. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/jwip.12039
- Parliament of Ghana. (2020, November 05). House Passes Plant Variety Protection Bill, 2020 into Law after Adoption of Committee Report. Retrieved August 05, 2024, from Parliament of Ghana: https://www.parliament.gh/news?CO=97
- Parliament of Ghana. (2020, October). Report Of The Committee On Constitutional, Legal and Parliamentary Affais on the Plant Variety Protection Bill, 2020. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Parliament of Ghana: https://ir.parliament.gh/bitstream/handle/123456789/4192/Report%20of%20the%20Com mittee%20on%20Constitutional%2C%20Legal%20and%20Parliamentary%20Affairs%2 0on%20the%20Plant%20Variety%20Protection%20Bill%2C%202020%20%28October% 2C%202020%29.pdf?sequence=1&isA
- Perelman, M. (2003, January 01). The Political Economy of Intellectual Property. *Monthly Review*, 54(8), 29-37. Retrieved from https://monthlyreview.org/2003/01/01/the-political-economy-of-intellectual-property/
- PFAG. (2020, November 02). Statement from the Food Sovereignty Platform on The Plant Breeders Bill (PBB). Retrieved August 03, 2024, from Peasants Farmers Association of Ghana: https://peasantfarmers.com/2020/11/02/statement-from-the-food-sovereigntyplatform-on-the-plant-breeders-bill-pbb/
- Philipson, T. J., & Jena, A. B. (2006). Who Benefits from New Medical Technologies? Estimates of Consumer and Producer Surpluses for HIV/AIDS Drugs. *Forum for Health Economics* & Policy, 9(2), 1-31.

- Pierson, P. (2000). Increasing Returns, Path Dependence, and the Study of Politics. *American Political Science Review*, 94(2), 251-267.
- Plant and Soil Science eLibrary. (2020, October 23). *Criteria for Protection*. Retrieved May 07, 2024, from Plant and Soil Science eLibrary: https://passel2.unl.edu/view/lesson/f798630b33e5/3
- Pretorius, W. (2002). TRIPS and Developing Countries: How Level is the Playing Field? In P.
  Drahos, & R. Mayne (Eds.), *Global Intellectual Property Rights*. (pp. 183-197). London:
  Palgrave Macmillan. doi: https://doi.org/10.1057/9780230522923 11
- Rawlings, j. J. (1995). Ghana, Vision 2020: The First Step, 1996-2000. Government of Ghana. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from https://www.ircwash.org/sites/default/files/Rawlings-1995-GhanaVision.pdf
- ReSAKSS. (2015, November). *Review of Ongoing Agricultural Development Efforts*. Retrieved June 05, 2024, from Regional Strategic Analysis and Knowledge Support System: https://www.resakss.org/sites/default/files/pdfs/ghana-caadp-brochure-1-review-of-ongoing-agricultu-42624.pdf
- Rock, J. (2018). "We Are Not Starving:" Challenging Genetically Modified Seeds and Development in Ghana. *Culture, Agriculture, Food and Environment, 41*(1), 15-23. doi:https://anthrosource.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/cuag.12147
- Rock, J., & Schurman, R. (2020). The complex choreography of agricultural biotechnology in Africa. *African Affairs*, *119*(477), 499-525. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/afraf/adaa021
- Rodriguez, L., & Lee, S. (2016). What Can Be Gleaned From News Coverage to Improve Science Reporting and Enhance Public Literacy About Agricultural Biotechnology in Ghana? *Journal of Agricultural & Food Information*, 17(2-3), 91-109. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10496505.2015.1133309
- Rostow, W. W. (1960). *The Stages of Economic Growth: A Non-Communist Manifesto*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sahai, S. (2000). GATT/ WTO and the Trips Agreement: a South Asian Perspective. South Asia Economic Journal, 1(2), 25-41. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/139156140000100203
- Saldivar, E. C. (2014). Is there only one effective sui generis protection that meets the obligation set out in Article 27 (3)(b) of TRIPS. *Rev. Prop. Inmaterial, 18*(119).
- Scotchmer, S. (2004). Innovation and Incentives. Cambridge: MIT Press.
- Seini, A. W. (2002). Political Instability and Agricultural Policy Dynamics in Ghana. Verfassung und Recht in Übersee / Law and Politics in Africa, Asia and Latin America, 35(3), 414-430. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/43239049
- Sell, S. K. (2003). *Private Power, Public Law: The Globalization of Intellectual Property Rights.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Serrano, O., & Burri, M. (2019). TRIPS Implementation in Developing Countries: Likely Scenarios to 2025. In M. Elsig, M. Hahn, & G. Spilker (Eds.), *The Shifting Landscape of Global Trade Governance: World Trade Forum* (pp. 275-294). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108757683
- Shiva, V. (1997). *Biopiracy: the plunder of nature and knowledge*. Boston, MA: South End Press.
- Shukla, S. P. (2000). From GATT to WTO and beyond. World Institute for Development Economics Research, 55-58. Retrieved from https://www.wider.unu.edu/sites/default/files/wp195.pdf
- Songsore, J. (2003). *Regional Development in Ghana: The Theory and the Reality*. Accra: Woeli Publishing Services.
- Sore, A. (2020, August 27). Civil Society Organizations in 3 northern Regions call for suspension of Plant Breeder's Bill. Retrieved August 06, 2024, from Joy Online: https://www.myjoyonline.com/civil-society-organizations-in-northern-ghana-call-forsuspension-of-plant-breeders-bill/
- Statista. (2023, December). *Ghana: Distribution of employment by economic sector from 2011 to 2021*. Retrieved March 02, 2024, from Statista: https://www.statista.com/statistics/447530/employment-by-economic-sector-in-ghana/#:~:text=Employment%20by%20economic%20sector%20in%20Ghana%202021& text=In%202021%2C%2039.49%20percent%20of,percent%20in%20the%20service%20s ector.
- Statista. (2024, February). Government expenditure on agriculture, forestry, and fishing in Ghana from 2012 to 2022. Retrieved May 29, 2024, from Statista: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1203405/government-spending-on-agricultureforestry-and-fishing-in-ghana/
- Stumpf, E. (2023, October). *Promotion of market-oriented agriculture in Ghana*. Retrieved May 31, 2024, from GIZ: https://www.giz.de/en/worldwide/19450.html
- Towse, R. (2001). *Creativity, Incentive and Reward*. Cheltenham, UK: Edward Elgar Publishing. doi:https://doi.org/10.4337/9781843767459
- Tsioumanis, A., Mattas, K., & Tsioumani, E. (2003). Is Policy Towards Intellectual Property Rights Addressing the Real Problems? The Case of Unauthorized Appropriation of Genetic Resources. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*, 16, 605-616. doi:https://doi.org/10.1023/B:JAGE.0000004960.46753.df

- UPOV. (1991, March 19). INTERNATIONAL CONVENTION FOR THE PROTECTION OF NEW VARIETIES OF PLANTS. Retrieved May 02, 2024, from UPOV: https://www.upov.int/edocs/pubdocs/en/upov\_pub\_221.pdf#page=6.40
- UPOV. (2011). *Frequently Asked Questions*. Retrieved from UPOV: https://www.upov.int/about/en/faq.html#QG31
- Vaidhyanathan, S. (2001). Copyrights and Copywrongs: The Rise of Intellectual Property and How It Threatens Creativity. New York: New York University Press.
- Vaidhyanathan, S. (2017). Intellectual Property: A Very Short Introduction, Very Short Introductions. New York: Oxford Academic. doi:https://doi.org/10.1093/actrade/9780195372779.001.0001
- Wakhungu, J. W., Sikoyo, G. M., & Nyukuri, E. (2006, January 01). Intellectual Property Protection in Africa Status of Laws, Research and Policy Analysis in Ghana, Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa and Uganda. Retrieved from Africa Portal: https://africaportal.org/publication/intellectual-property-protection-in-africa-status-oflaws-research-and-policy-analysis-in-ghana-kenya-nigeria-south-africa-and-uganda/
- West, S. (2012). 'Institutionalised Exclusion: The Political Economy of Benefit Sharing and Intellectual Property. *Law, Environment and Development Journal*, 8(1), 18-43. Retrieved from http://www.lead-journal.org/content/12019.pdf
- WIPO. (2020, December). PLANT VARIETY PROTECTION ACT, 2020. Retrieved from World Intellectual Property Organization: https://wipolexres.wipo.int/edocs/lexdocs/laws/en/gh/gh039en.pdf
- WPR. (2024). *Cocoa Producing Countries 2024*. Retrieved June 04, 2024, from World Population Review: https://worldpopulationreview.com/country-rankings/cocoaproducing-countries
- WTO. (2000, September 16). AGREEMENT ON TRADE-RELATED ASPECTS OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS. Retrieved from WTO: https://www.wto.org/english/docs\_e/legal\_e/27-trips.pdf#page=19.16
- WTO. (2001, July 22). *General obligations and disciplines*. Retrieved May 17, 2024, from WORLD TRADE ORGANIZATION: https://www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/serv\_e/2-obdis\_e.htm
- Yaro, J. A., Teye, J. K., & Torvikey, G. D. (2018). Historical Context of Agricultural Commercialisation in Ghana: Changes in Land and Labour Relations. *ournal of Asian and African Studies*, 53(1), 49-63. doi:https://doi.org/10.1177/0021909616657368

Yu, P. K. (2013). The Objectives and Principles of the Trips Agreement. In B. C. Mercurio, *The Regulation of Services and Intellectual Property*. London: Routledge. doi:https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315085463